Western SGraduate & Postdoctoral Studies

Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

12-4-2018 11:00 AM

Conceptual disorganization and redistribution of resting state cortical hubs in drug-naive first episode psychosis: A 7T functional magnetic resonance imaging study

Avyarthana Dey The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor Palaniyappan, Lena The University of Western Ontario

Graduate Program in Neuroscience A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree in Master of Science © Avyarthana Dey 2018

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Mental Disorders Commons

Recommended Citation

Dey, Avyarthana, "Conceptual disorganization and redistribution of resting state cortical hubs in drugnaive first episode psychosis: A 7T functional magnetic resonance imaging study" (2018). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 5898. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/5898

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

Abstract

Network level dysconnectivity has been studied in positive and negative symptoms of schizophrenia. Conceptual disorganization (CD) is a symptom which predicts impaired real-world functioning. Systematic reviews have reported aberrant connectivity in formal thought disorder, a construct related to CD. However, no studies have investigated wholebrain functional correlates of CD in psychosis. We sought to investigate brain regions explaining the severity of CD in patients with first-episode psychosis (FEPs) compared with healthy controls (HCs). We computed whole-brain binarized degree centrality maps of 31 FEPs, 25 HCs and characterized the patterns of network connectivity in the two groups. In FEPs, we related these findings to the severity of CD. We also studied the effect of positive and negative symptoms on altered network connectivity. Compared to HCs, the FEPs showed reduced hubness of a cluster located in the right superior temporal gyrus (rSTG). In patients exhibiting high CD, increased hubness of a medial superior parietal (mSPL) cluster was observed, compared to patients exhibiting low CD. These two regions were strongly correlated with CD scores but not with other symptom scores. Our observations are congruent with previous findings of reduced but not increased hubness. We observed increased hubness of mSPL suggesting that a cortical reorganization occurs in brain networks to provide alternate routes for information transfer. These findings provide insight into the underlying neural processes mediating the presentation of symptoms in untreated FEP. A longitudinal tracking of the symptom course will be useful to assess the mechanisms underlying these compensatory changes.

Keywords: conceptual disorganization, first-episode psychosis, resting-state fMRI, graph theory, cortical reorganization

Dedication

I dedicate this thesis to my parents who have been my pillars of strength in this journey and for their unwavering love. I also dedicate this thesis to my mentor, Dr. Naren Rao, as this journey would not have been possible without his encouragement and faith in my abilities. "Our deepest fear is not that we are inadequate. Our deepest fear is that we are powerful beyond measure."

-Marianne Williamson

Acknowledgements

I want to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Lena Palaniyappan who encouraged the completion of this project and inspired me with his erudition. I thank him especially for helping me navigate an entirely different field and an extremely steep learning curve.

I would also like to thank my academic advisory committee members Dr. Ruth Lanius for being the wonderful person she is, Dr. Ali Khan for being an excellent guide throughout the technicalities of this project, and Dr. Derek Mitchell for being a constant source of support and the epitome of patience throughout this endeavor.

This thesis would not have taken shape without the immense support and valuable advice provided by Dr. Brian Corneil.

A special thanks to Dr. Arthur Brown for helping me understand the nitty-gritties of research and being my life coach.

This project would also not have been possible without the excellent support provided by Dr. Joe Gati in the acquisition of data and explanation of the technicalities of the different MRI acquisition protocols used.

A big thank you to Dr. Suzanne Witt, Western's BrainsCAN Research Associate, for guiding me through the software stats and helping me explore cool new methods for data analysis.

This project would not have been successful without the efforts of colleagues in the lab-Kara, Mike and Peter who helped collect and update my datasets. A special mention for Dr. Roberto Limongi who joined my lab as a postdoctoral fellow and became the person who I could turn to for all my data and statistical analysis problems.

Lastly, I would like to thank my parents for being supportive of my dreams and believing in them. Everything that I have achieved, or I will achieve is for them.

Abstracti
Table of Contentsv
List of Tablesviii
List of Figuresix
List of Appendicesx
Chapter 1: Introduction1
1.1 General overview
1.2 The clinical construct of psychosis – a historical overview
1.3 Definition of psychosis2
1.4 Symptoms of psychosis
1.5 Persistence of the symptoms of psychosis
1.6 Conceptual disorganization in acute psychosis5
1.7 Neural correlates of conceptual disorganization - a review of the neuroimaging literature
1.8 Current limitations in existing literature
1.9 Use of functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging (fMRI) as a tool to study psychosis
1.10 Description of the imaging technique(s) used in this study10
1.10.1 Imaging sequences: rs-fMRI and structural MRI11
1.11 Graph theoretical measures and the theory of 'dysconnection' in psychosis 12
1.11.1 The 'dysconnection' hypothesis12
1.11.2 Description of graph theoretical measures used in this study
1.11.3 The methodological approach used in this study to detect altered functional connectivity with respect to conceptual disorganization 14
1.12 Influence of assessment procedure used to measure disorganization15

Table of Contents

	1.1:	3 Aims	and Hypotheses	15
	1.14	4 Refere	ences	16
Cł	napte	r 2: <i>Ma</i>	nuscript	26
2	Title in u	e: Conc ntreated	eptual disorganization and redistribution of resting state cortical hubs I first episode psychosis: A 7T study	s 26
	2.1	Author	rs	26
	2.2	Author	affiliations	26
	2.3	Abstra	ct	26
	2.4	Keywo	ords	27
	2.5	Introdu	iction	28
	2.6	Materi	als and Methods	30
		2.6.1	Participants	30
		2.6.2	Clinical and cognitive assessments	31
		2.6.3	MRI acquisition	35
		2.6.4	Data preprocessing	35
		2.6.5	Computing degree centrality maps	37
	2.7	Statisti	cal analysis	39
2.8 Results			S	40
		2.8.1	Demographic and clinical characteristics	40
		2.8.2	Effect of psychosis on bDC	40
		2.8.3	Functional connectivity of STG/insula cluster with the rest of the brain	41
		2.8.4	Effect of conceptual disorganization on bDC	43
		2.8.5	Specificity of findings to disorganization	46
		2.8.6	Discussion	46
	2.9	Refere	nces	49

2.10 Supplementary information	
2.10.1 References:	
2.11 Funding	63
2.12 Conflict of interest	63
2.13 Acknowledgements	63
Chapter 3: General discussion	64
3 Conclusions	64
3.1 References:	68

List of Tables

Table 1 Demographic and clinical characteristic of the sample included for analysis in
the study
Table 2 Demographic and clinical characteristics of the sample excluded from analysis in
the study
Table 3 Brain regions showing reduced hubness in the FEP $(n = 38)$ group compared to
HCs (n = 31)
Table 4 Functional connectivity of the STG/insula cluster to other brain areas for subjects
in the FEP group ($n = 38$). The colour bar indicates T-values
Table 5 Brain regions showing reduced hubness in the High P2 group $(n = 12)$ compared
to the Low P2 group (n = 26)44
Table 6 Functional connectivity of the medial superior parietal lobule cluster to other
brain areas in the FEP group (n = 38)45
Table 7 Brain regions showing wDC alterations in the FEP group $(n = 38)$ compared to
the HC group (n = 31)
Table 8 Correlation between the eigenvariates of STG/Insula and mSPL clusters in the
FEP group

List of Figures

Figure 2 (a) Brain regions showing reduced hubness in the FEP (n = 38) group compared to HCs (n = 31) (yellow), (b) Functional connectivity of the STG/insula cluster to other brain areas for subjects in the FEP group (n = 38). The colour bars indicate T-values....43

Figure 3 (a) Brain regions showing reduced hubness in the High P2 group $(n = 12)$
compared to the Low P2 group ($n = 26$). (b) Functional connectivity of the medial
superior parietal lobule cluster to other brain areas in the FEP group ($n = 38$). The colour
bars indicate T-values
Figure 4 Meta-analytic results (obtained from the Neurosynth database) of functional
connectivity associations between the STG/Insula cluster and the rest of the brain 57
Figure 5 Functional connectivity associations between the STG/Insula cluster and the rest
of the brain
Figure 6 Meta-analytic results (obtained from the Neurosynth database) of functional
connectivity associations between the medial superior parietal cluster and the rest of the
brain
Figure 7 Functional connectivity associations between the medial superior parietal cluster
and the rest of the brain
Figure 8 Relationship between eigenvariate of the medial superior parietal cluster and
conceptual disorganization scores
Figure 9 Relationship between eigenvariate of the medial superior parietal cluster and
conceptual disorganization scores

List of Appendices

Appendix 1 Results from a two-sample t-test (FEPs vs. HC) of weighted degree cent	rality
(wDC) maps	56
Appendix 2 Neurosynth meta-analyses	56
Appendix 3 Correlation between eigenvariate of STG/Insula and mSPL	58
Appendix 4 Scatterplots between the P2 scores and eigenvariate of the STG/Insula	a and
mSPL clusters	59

1 Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 General overview

Psychosis is a commonly occurring feature of many psychiatric, neurodevelopmental, neurological and medical conditions which is associated with a disruption of the normal functioning capabilities of the affected individuals. Observations such as reduced social or occupational participation (Arciniegas, 2015) and core clinical symptoms such as delusions, hallucinations without insight and disorder of thought processes (DSM-5; Gaebel and Zielasek, 2015) help conceptualize psychosis as a clinical feature.

1.2 The clinical construct of psychosis – a historical overview

The clinical construct of psychosis was first described in 1845 by an Austrian doctor, Ernst von Feuchtersleben, as a disease of the mind or 'Geisteskrankheiten' (Beer, 1995, 1996). The organic nature of psychosis was proposed by Flemming in his textbook 'The Pathology and Treatment of the Psychoses' which suggested that psychosis occurred as the result of an underlying disorder of the nervous system (neurosis) (Beer, 1996). In his characterization of the cerebral associations of consciousness, Wernicke hypothesized the splitting ('sejunktion') of different psychological processes (Wernicke, 1899; Beer, 1996) as the 'psychoses' of perception of one's body (somatopsychoses), personality (autopsychoses) and the outside world (allopsychoses) (Beer, 1996). Around the same time, Wernicke's conceptualization of mental illnesses (as having anatomical and physiological underpinnings) was replaced by Kraepelin's theory of the dichotomous nature (Gaebel and Zielasek, 2015) of 'dementia praecox' and 'manic-depressive insanity' in psychosis (Leonhard, 1985). All of these theories suggested that psychosis was an organic illness. Fuerstner (1881) suggested the functional nature of psychosis, to separate it from 'organic psychoses' (Beer, 1995, 1996). However, until the 1920's, there was no clear distinction between the functional and organic subtypes of psychosis. In 1924, Bumke defined organic psychosis to affect the brain tissue and functional psychosis to affect the mind (Beer, 1996). Later, Jaspers distinguished organic psychoses from functional psychoses by referring to the latter as schizophrenia, manic-depression, and epilepsy (Jaspers, 1963).

1.3 Definition of psychosis

Both the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-5) (APA, 2013) and the International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision (ICD-10) (WHO, 1993) define psychosis as a loss of the sense of reality, characterized by delusions, hallucinations without insight, and disruptions in the form of thought processes. These three features have been implicated to be the 'core' features of psychosis (Arciniegas, 2015; Gaebel and Zielasek, 2015). Psychosis has been implicated to be a fundamental feature of schizophrenia spectrum disorders, mood and substance use disorders, as well as some neurological conditions (Arciniegas, 2015). An impaired sense of reality is of central importance among the symptoms which characterize psychosis.

Hallucinations are perceptions or experiences (e.g. hearing voices) which occur without the presence of any stimulus from the external environment. Often the individual is unable to identify the hallucinatory features of that episode. Hallucinations are mostly auditory in nature (Stephane et al., 2001; Verdoux and van Os, 2002), with some reports of visual, tactile and olfactory hallucinations (Bracha et al., 1989) as well.

Delusions are false beliefs (e.g. notions that other people are plotting against oneself) which provide evidence of distorted reality and indicate an abnormality in the content of thoughts (Andreasen et al., 1995). The person experiencing the delusions is unable to change these beliefs despite being aware of the presence of logic which contradicts these beliefs (Arciniegas, 2015).

'Formal thought disorders (FTD)' or disruptions in the form of thought processes commonly occur in psychosis. These disorders are generally related to observations such as taking a lot of time before speaking (retardation), not getting to the point when discussing something (tangentiality) or the tendency to offer bizarre explanations for things or events (illogicality) (WHO, 2018), to name a few. In the diagnosis of a psychotic disorder, FTD assumes greater importance over hallucinations and delusions when a psychotic episode is accompanied by disorganized behaviour, catatonia (motor and behavioural abnormalities) and/or negative symptoms –according to the guidelines put forward in the DSM-5 (APA, 2013; Arciniegas, 2015).

1.4 Symptoms of psychosis

Chronic or established psychosis (e.g. schizophrenia) is a complex mental condition, which can be diagnosed at least 6 months after the first presentation of a psychotic episode (DSM-5; Thyer, 2015). A heterogenous symptom structure including positive, negative, and disorganization symptoms (Bilder et al., 1985; Kulhara et al., 1986; Liddle, 1987; Andreasen et al., 1995) characterizes the symptoms of chronic or established psychosis (schizophrenia).

Positive symptoms of psychosis are defined as extreme representations of psychotic features which are associated with a magnification (Andreasen et al., 1995) of normal functions (Andreasen, 1990) such as hearing or thinking. These symptoms are characterized by a distorted perception of reality and manifest as hallucinations, delusions or false beliefs, thought disorders, and motor impairments (Andreasen et al., 1995).

Negative symptoms are characterized by disruptions or alterations to normal emotions and behaviours which tend to have a basic underlying persistence (Andreasen et al., 1995). These symptoms include reduced spontaneity and fluency of speech or 'alogia', reduced expression of emotions through facial expressions or voice tone commonly known as 'flattened affect' or 'affective blunting', loss of a sense of pleasure or 'anhedonia', difficulty beginning and sustaining activities or 'avolition' explained as a 'loss of will or drive', loss of the ability to focus attention on a specific activity/task in a sustained manner or 'attentional impairment' and reduced social interaction (Andreasen et al., 1995).

Disorganization is characterized as the impairment of the form of thought processes and bizarre actions, defined as conceptual and behavioural disorganization respectively. It has been shown to be a persistent feature in both acute and chronic stages of schizophrenia (Feigenson et al., 2014). The lack of effective treatment options results in the chronicity of the different symptom domains and relates to the unrelenting characteristics of

schizophrenia (Harrow and Marengo, 1986; Andreasen and Grove; 1986; Marengo and Harrow, 1997).

1.5 Persistence of the symptoms of psychosis

A large number of patients with established psychosis have been reported to experience unrelenting positive symptoms despite undergoing treatments with antipsychotics (Suzuki et al., 2011, 2012). In approximately 70% of the patients undergoing treatment with antipsychotics, a short-term reduction in the severity of positive symptoms (Haro et al., 2018) has been implied (but not observed in all patients) (Menezes et al., 2006; Novick et al., 2009; Van Os and Kapur, 2009). Relapses of psychotic episodes, rehospitalization, deficits in functioning, and a reduced 'quality of life' could result from an insufficient management of positive symptoms (Lehman and Postrado, 1995; Doering et al., 1998; Norman et al., 1999, 2001; Csernansky and Schuchart, 2002; Menezes et al., 2006; Novick et al., 2009).

Negative symptoms have been shown to be present at the time of the first psychotic episode (Bobes et al., 2010), and have been shown to persist even after treatments with antipsychotics (Erhart et al., 2006). The negative symptom subtype is a predictor of poor social and occupational functioning (Novick et al., 2009; Rabinowitz et al., 2012), even after the remission of positive symptoms (Stahl and Grady, 2004; Chue and Lalonde, 2014).

Disorganization is observed to be a persistent feature in both acute and chronic stages of established psychosis (schizophrenia) (Feigenson et al., 2014). As opposed to persistent disorganization, the pathophysiology of acute disorganization has been observed during an active psychotic episode (Breier and Berg, 1999). Acute disorganization resolves in many patients over time (Andreasen, 1979; Harrow and Marengo, 1986; Harrow, Marengo & McDonald, 1986; Harvey, Earle-Boyle & Wielgus et al., 1984), and often covaries with the severity of positive symptoms. On the other hand, the symptoms of disorganization (e.g. negative FTD) seen in chronic stages often emerge as a distinct subtype of the illness (Roche et al., 2014). The persistence of disorganization despite treatment (in longitudinal cohorts) has suggested that existing treatments are not fully effective in alleviating the

symptoms of disorganization in patients with psychosis (Harrow and Marengo, 1986; Andreasen and Grove; 1986; Marengo and Harrow, 1997).

1.6 Conceptual disorganization in acute psychosis

Of the three major subtypes of disorganization (conceptual disorganization (CD), poor attention, difficulties related to abstract thinking) (Rocca et al., 2018), CD has been implicated in the previous literature to be a persistent feature at all phases of the illness (Feigenson et al., 2014) and related to impairments in cognition (Bleuler, 1950; Hardy-Bayle et al., 2003) and real-world functioning (Rocca et al., 2018). CD is characterized by difficulties in the goal-directed sequencing of thoughts that manifest as circumstantial, illogical or tangential speech or weakened goal of thinking (loose associations) (Kay et al., 1987). Formal thought disorder (FTD), a construct associated with disorganization, has been shown to be the strongest predictor of impaired speech and peculiar word use (Ayer et al., 2016) in first-episode psychosis. In established psychosis (schizophrenia), FTD has also been related to impaired cognitive control (Yoon et al., 2012) and impaired functioning at different phases of the illness (Roche et al., 2015; Ortiz et al., 2017). While the construct of FTD encompasses both positive (e.g. illogical, tangential, loosened speech) as well as negative (e.g. poverty of speech, reduced content of speech) FTD, the clinical construct of CD refers only to positive aspects of FTD. Of the three major impairments (neurocognition, social cognition, formal thought disorders (FTD)) related to CD, FTD is the most extensively studied feature which is characterized by deficits in thought processes manifesting as speech disorders (eg. illogicality, retardation, tangentiality). Longitudinal studies have reported FTD to be a persistent feature at all stages of psychosis and implied that the existing treatment options are not effective towards alleviating the symptoms of CD (Harrow and Marengo, 1986; Andreasen and Grove; 1986; Marengo and Harrow, 1997).

1.7 Neural correlates of conceptual disorganization - a review of the neuroimaging literature

Numerous neuroimaging studies have sought to investigate the neural correlates of CD (more specifically, FTD) in established psychosis (schizophrenia), which have been

systematically reviewed (Sumner et al., 2018a, 2018b; Kircher et al., 2018; Cavelti et al., 2018).

Sumner et al. (2018a) reviewed studies which investigated the functional correlates of thought disorder and reported the frontal and temporal lobes, fusiform gyrus, cingulum and some subcortical structures (caudate nucleus, cerebellum) as the brain regions associated with functional activations in relation to positive thought disorders. Functions of the temporal lobe including language perception, comprehension and production, semantic information processing were related to the severity of thought disorders. Tasks of the frontal lobe related to attention and working memory were also implicated to be related to thought disorders. This review also lists studies which conducted exploratory analyses on specific regions-of-interest (ROI) in relation to negative thought disorders. A ROI study reported increased temporal activation when performing tests of executive functioning deficits, or the behavioural correlates, reported in this review associated the severity of thought disorders with the production of less syntactically complex sentences and the number of pauses between words which were filled with non-word sounds.

Another review by Sumner et al. (2018b) reviews the structural correlates of thought disorder and reports heterogeneous findings with respect to measures of brain structure (e.g. gray matter volume, thickness, gyrification) and the severity of thought disorders. In both reviews, the superior temporal gyrus has been implicated (structurally and functionally) to be an important brain region associated with language processing. This review also lists studies which reported reduced gray matter volume directly related to the severity of positive and total thought disorders, and also showed a greater loss of temporal lobe volume in individuals who had recently experienced a first episode of psychosis. Some drawbacks which include the lack of studies conducting a hypothesis-driven investigation of the structural and functional correlates of thought disorders, as well as the non-specificity of investigations into the defining aspects of thought disorders have been implied in these reviews.

Cavelti et al. (2018) included studies which examined the association of formal thought disorder (FTD) with either the whole brain or a ROI in the language network. They separately reviewed findings from volumetric, diffusion tensor imaging, resting-state functional MRI (fMRI) and task-based fMRI studies, and reported deficits in regions of the language network (e.g. superior temporal gyrus). A few resting-state fMRI studies have associated the severity of FTD with altered functional (resting state) activity in brain regions not part of the language network such as the insula (Horn et al., 2009; Skudlarski et al., 2010) and cingulate gyrus (Sabri et al., 1997; Skudlarski et al., 2010). In contrast, a few studies have reported observations of no relation between FTD and resting state activity in the cingulate gyrus (Liemburg et al., 2012) as well as no correlation of resting state activity with the severity of FTD in subcortical brain regions such as the thalamus and basal ganglia (Sabri et al., 1997). This review demonstrates very heterogeneous findings of the association of the language network with the severity of FTD, therefore suggesting the multifaceted nature of the disorder of the form of thought processes. Methodological differences such as a distinctly different gender ratio across all studies and inconsistencies in the measurement of clinical variables (e.g. duration of illness, medication status, and severity of FTD) were reported in this review.

Kircher et al. (2018) reviewed the positive and negative, as well as the objective and subjective symptoms of FTD and discussed their genetic, structural and functional underpinnings in relation with the severity of the symptoms of FTD. The existing literature has focused on alterations in language networks in relation to the severity of FTD. However, the authors of this review argued that since language is not a specific human ability, there is a need to conduct more studies which would investigate the aspects of FTD that are related to real-world functioning abilities such as speech processing (involving the perception and generation of speech) and social cognition.

In summary, these reviews have indicated a significant focus towards the investigation of aberrations in brain regions associated with language processing (especially superior temporal gyrus (STG)) as the major structural and functional correlates of FTD (Sumner et al., 2018a, 2018b; Wensing et al., 2017). Nevertheless, null findings, as well as findings that implicate brain regions not considered a part of the language network, have also been

reported (Sumner et al., 2018a, 2018b). A notable lack of studies which directly relate network-level functional connectivity (FC) to disorganization has also been highlighted (Cavelti et al., 2018).

A limited number of resting-state fMRI (rs-fMRI) studies have investigated the network level dysconnectivity underlying the symptoms of disorganization. In a sample of patients presenting with first episode psychosis, an increased functional connectivity (FC) of the default mode network (DMN) with the insula and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (dlPFC) was reported in relation to clinical measures (He et al., 2013). In contrast, another study reported no alterations of FC between the DMN and other resting state networks as well as no evidence of aberrant FC within the DMN (Repovs et al., 2011) in patients with established psychosis (schizophrenia). This study also reported altered FC between the frontoparietal and cerebellar networks (Repove et al., 2011). In another study investigating the connectivities across five resting state networks (default mode network, fronto-parietal network, cingulo-opercular network, cerebellar network, salience network) in schizophrenia, reduced network-level FC was shown to be decreased between the cinguloopercular and salience networks, fronto-parietal and cingulo-opercular networks, as well as fronto-parietal and cerebellar networks (Mamah et al., 2013). Other studies report reduced connectivity between the thalamus and postcentral gyrus (Skudlarski et al., 2010), between dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) and insula, Wernicke's area, sensorimotor area and frontal pole, and increased connectivity between the DLPFC and premotor cortex (Cole et al., 2011) in relation to pronounced CD or FTD. Several studies have also failed to find a relationship between the severity of disorganization and FC (Palaniyappan et al., 2013b, 2018b; Cavelti et al 2017; Kircher et al., 2018). With the exception of one study by He et al. (2013), all other studies recruited patients during a stable medicated phase of established psychosis (schizophrenia). Therefore, the neural correlates of conceptual disorganization seen during first episode psychosis is still unclear.

1.8 Current limitations in existing literature

One limitation in identifying the prevalence of FTD (or CD) in psychosis samples is the absence of cutoff scores and validation studies as well as the limited number of studies using more than one assessment tool to indicate the presence of FTD (Roche et al., 2015).

A second limitation is the paucity of studies explicitly relating FTD to impairments in social cognition (Kircher et al., 2018), an important component of real-world functioning (Rocca et al., 2018). A comprehensive review of neuroimaging studies in schizophrenia reveals the absence of adequate sample sizes to study the structural and functional correlates of FTD as well as a heterogeneity in assessment scales used to measure FTD (Cavelti et al., 2017). Alongside these observations, the majority of neuroimaging studies have been reported to investigate structural and functional alterations of brain regions primarily involved in auditory and language processing with few studies investigating higher-order cognitive processing (eg. social cognition, working memory and executive functioning) in FTD. The review by Cavelti et al. (2017) reveals a gap in the literature of studies that have investigated whole-brain connectivity patterns voxel-by-voxel in relation to the severity of conceptual disorganization.

The next sections review the imaging modality of functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), the imaging techniques and graph theoretical measures used in this study as tools to assess the severity of psychotic symptoms.

1.9 Use of functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging (fMRI) as a tool to study psychosis

Patterns of brain activity in disorders such as psychosis were initially studied using animal models, post-mortem studies and examination of the concentrations of peripheral metabolites (Andreasen, 1988). However, these approaches had some inherent limitations; for example, animal models could not be used to study the distinctive cognitive or behavioural abilities observed in humans, a post-mortem investigation of brain tissue would not be able to account for effects of dynamically changing confounding variables (e.g. age, treatment with various medications, alterations in brain tissue associated with other diseases). An examination of concentrations of peripheral metabolites would not be helpful towards explaining alterations in concentrations of brain metabolites, or neurochemical processes in the brain. In summary, these techniques could not provide a

means to investigate the structural, functional, chemical, cognitive or behavioural components associated with psychosis.

It, therefore, became imperative to study changes in the brain through direct observations in living human beings. In vivo neuroimaging became a widely used tool with different techniques to study the human brain. Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) is a technique commonly used to study brain function. It uses a strong magnetic field to detect changes in blood flow patterns in the brain as a marker of brain function. fMRI is a powerful non-invasive tool used to measure changes in blood flow patterns and blood oxygenation levels associated with changes in neuronal activity either at rest or when performing a particular task. The most popular fMRI technique used to study brain activity, Blood Oxygen Level Dependent (BOLD) imaging, allows us to study hemodynamic responses to neuronal firing. This imaging technique takes advantage of the differences in magnetic properties of oxygenated and deoxygenated hemoglobin. The fMRI modality used to study patterns of brain activation in this study is resting-state fMRI.

1.10 Description of the imaging technique(s) used in this study

Resting-state fMRI (rs-fMRI) and structural MRI are two imaging techniques used in this study.

<u>Resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging (rs-fMRI)</u>

This is an in vivo non-invasive imaging technique which was first described by Biswal et al., in 1995. Rs-fMRI is used to study changes in blood flow and oxygenation patterns in the brain of an individual at rest or without the presence of any external stimulus. In other words, resting-state fMRI is used to measure the BOLD signal when the brain is not explicitly involved in performing any task/activity. During the scan, the individuals are instructed to lay inside the scanner, either with their eyes open or closed and asked to not think of anything in particular. Rs-fMRI is helpful for scanning participants with severe psychiatric conditions (e.g. psychosis), who might experience difficulties in performing tasks within the scanner environment.

Structural magnetic resonance imaging

This is a non-invasive imaging technique which is used to examine the anatomy and pathology of the brain. Structural MRI provides qualitative and quantitative information about the shape, size and integrity of gray and white matter structures in the brain. It also provides an anatomical reference for the visualization of activation patterns and regions of interest to extract functional signal information.

1.10.1 Imaging sequences: rs-fMRI and structural MRI

The properties of magnetic resonance imaging sequences are based on the random orientation or anisotropy of water molecules when a strong, uniform, external magnetic field is applied to different types of brain tissue. The anisotropy of water molecules is influenced by the application of an external radio frequency (RF) pulse to the magnetic field. Difference image sequences are obtained by varying the sequences of RF pulses applied to the field and collected from the emitted signals. During image acquisition, the time interval between the application of two successive RF pulses is known as repetition time (TR) and the time interval between the application of an RF pulse and receipt of the echo signal is known as echo time (TE).

'Relaxation time' is a measure which can help differentiate between different tissue types alongside measures of TR and TE. In magnetic resonance imaging, 'relaxation' can be defined as a measure of change in emitted signal over time. Tissues can be classified based on two types of relaxations- T1 (longitudinal) and T2 (transverse). The time constant which determines the rate at which excited protons return to equilibrium, or conversely, the time taken for spinning protons to lose their 'spin' momentum and align with the magnetic field is known as T1. The time constant at which excited protons go out of phase with each other, or alternatively, the time taken by the excited protons to lose phase coherence and spin orthogonal to the magnetic field is known as T2. The time constants TR and TE are used to characterize the T1 and T2 properties of the tissue respectively.

Resting state functional magnetic resonance imaging is characterized by T2*-weighted mages. T2* weighting is obtained by both the T2 signal as well as inhomogeneities of the

external magnetic field. In our acquisition protocol, the TR of rs-fMRI data is 1000 milliseconds and the TE is 20 milliseconds. Structural magnetic resonance imaging is characterized by T1-weighted images. In our acquisition protocol, the TR of structural MRI data is 6000 milliseconds and the TE is 2.83 milliseconds.

1.11 Graph theoretical measures and the theory of 'dysconnection' in psychosis

Graph theory is a branch of mathematics which is used to define a real-world complex system in the form of nodes (vertices of the graph) and connections between the nodes (edges of the graph). It has been widely used to characterize structural and functional brain networks in terms of graph metrics namely, nodes (specialized brain regions) and edges (axons, dendrites, and synaptic terminals) (Bullmore & Sporns, 2009). Furthermore, graph theory has been successful in demonstrating aberrant patterns of structural and functional network connectivities in medicated patients with established psychosis (chronic schizophrenia) (Zalesky et al., 2011; Palaniyappan & Liddle, 2014; Yu et al., 2015; Cheng et al., 2015; Cao et al., 2016; Kambeitz et al., 2016; Palaniyappan et al., 2018a). Therefore, measures of graph theory are useful to characterize the the theory of 'dysconnection' (Friston & Frith, 1995) in relation to brain networks.

1.11.1 The 'dysconnection' hypothesis

Wernicke's hypothesis of 'sejunktion' suggested that an aberrant shunting of neural processes occurring in psychosis resulted in a disruption of interconnections and abnormal functionalities in distributed neural systems (Ungvari, 1993). Following this, the concept of 'splitting' or 'disintegration' of different psychological domains in established psychosis was proposed by Bleuler in 1911, based on Janet's concepts of 'association' and 'dissociation' (Moskowitz, 2006). In 1995, Friston and Frith united the concepts of 'sejunktion' and 'disintegration' to put forward the 'dysconnection hypothesis' which suggested that the core symptoms of psychosis (schizophrenia) result in an abnormal functional integration in distributed brain networks (Friston & Frith, 1995). Stephan et al. in 2009 proposed an alternate pathophysiological framework of schizophrenia to suggest that the underlying abnormal functional integration of distributed brain networks explains

the characteristic core symptoms and associated cognitive impairments in schizophrenia (Stephan et al., 2009).

1.11.2 Description of graph theoretical measures used in this study

The graph theoretical measures used in this study to assess the presence and severity of disorganization in psychosis are degree centrality (quantitative) and hubness (qualitative).

Degree centrality (DC) is a quantitative graph theoretical metric which was first introduced by Buckner et al., 2009. It is defined as the number of voxels across the brain that are strongly correlated with the target voxel (Buckner et al., 2009). This metric measures the local network connectivity by accounting for the number of direct extrinsic or intrinsic connections (edges) one node has to all other nodes in a distributed brain network. A node with high DC, therefore, has a large number of direct connections to other nodes in the network.

Hubness is a qualitative graph theoretical metric used to quantify the characteristics of nodes or brain regions with high DC in a brain network. Nodes with high DC have high hubness (or hub-like properties) and are crucial to efficient communication. On the other hand, nodes with low DC are regions through which information flow occurs but are not important for efficient communication. Increased hubness of a node would indicate an increase in its hub-like properties and thus its emergence as a crucial network node for information exchange. In contrast, reduced hubness of a node would indicate a reduction in hub-like properties of a brain region, therefore lowering its importance in the network.

These two complementary graph metrics measure the number of connections each brain region has to other brain regions. These graph metrics would help characterize aberrant connectivity patterns which occur in distributed brain regions as a result of the underlying symptoms of disorganization in first episode psychosis. Such a characterization would help study the theory of 'dysconnection' in an acutely psychotic sample and may also provide insights as to whether the symptoms are a result of the functional aberrations (or vice-versa).

1.11.3 The methodological approach used in this study to detect altered functional connectivity with respect to conceptual disorganization

Without making any a priori assumptions about the brain regions implicated in acute disorganization, a graph theoretical measure known as degree centrality (DC) (first introduced by Buckner et al., 2009) was used to characterize differences in local network connectivity between the two groups across the whole brain. We undertook a whole brain voxel wise search to locate brain regions showing aberrant connectivity in relation to the presence of psychosis as well as the severity of disorganization. A correlation threshold of r > 0.25 (Buckner et al., 2009; Zuo et al., 2012; Yan et al., 2013a, b) was used to generate an undirected adjacency matrix to identify the brain voxels which were strongly connected to other brain voxels. To establish the specificity of our findings on the symptom of conceptual disorganization, we studied the effects of other positive and negative symptoms of psychosis in relation to the observed results.

1.11.3.1 Influence of thresholding parameters

While computing topological properties such as centrality based on graph theory to study brain connectomes, a limited number of brain regions are usually selected as nodes of interest, and sparse connectivity matrices are obtained to delineate the networks of interest. The 2 commonly used approaches to generate sparse matrices are (1) the use of an absolute edge-defining threshold (e.g. edges with functional connectivity value above 0.25 are retained as in Buckner et al., 2009) or (2) using a fixed edge density threshold (e.g. 30% of all possible edges are retained in the matrices). The use of an absolute edge defining threshold can result in various sparsity values across different individuals (or groups). As several topological metrics depend on the degree of sparsity (Tewarie et al., 2014), the resulting differences may indeed be due to variations in the number of edges rather than true differences in the network topology. Proportional thresholding using several values of fixed edge density obviates this problem (e.g. Bassett et al., 2008). But when using this approach, if systematic differences in the global strength of connectivity exist between two groups of interest, this can result in noisy and spurious edges with low connectional

strength being included in one group and not in the other. Again, this could lead to an apparent group difference in topological metrics, with a shift towards randomness in the group with weaker overall connectivity (van den Heuvel 2017; Vasa et al., 2018). Our primary interest was not in deriving the topological architecture of functional connectivity. Instead, we were focused on deriving a single score for each voxel that best represented the overall (voxelwise) functional connectivity required to characterize hubs. As a result, we used Buckner's approach in this study. Our previous use of this approach resulted in highly reproducible hubs across different brain states (rest, 0,1, and 2 back task performance) (Palaniyappan & Liddle 2014).

1.12 Influence of assessment procedure used to measure disorganization

Disorganization and the related construct of FTD are both multidimensional constructs, with variations along the axes of subjectivity, positive-negative speech productivity, as well as illness stage related (i.e. acute vs chronic) differences. As recommended by recent comprehensive reviews in this field (Cavelti et al., 2018; Kircher et al., 2018; Sumner et al., 2018), we assessed both a positive (P2 of PANSS) and a negative (N6 of PANSS) feature of FTD. In addition, we also corroborated the presence of disorganization using complementary clinical definitions (YMRS scale items 6 and 7). Nevertheless, our results cannot be taken to represent the neural basis of FTD as such, as we lacked instruments that comprehensively quantify the various aspects of FTD (Kircher et al., 2018; Strik et al., 2010).

1.13 Aims and Hypotheses

The aim of this study was to investigate whole brain alterations of functional connectivity in patients presenting with first-episode psychosis in comparison with healthy controls. A second aim was to relate the symptoms of disorganization to these functional connectivity alterations.

Our hypothesis is that in association with the symptoms of disorganization, there is a reduction in hubness (measured using degree centrality) of major brain areas in patients presenting with drug-naive first-episode psychosis in comparison to healthy controls.

1.14 References

- American Psychiatric Association. From Planning to Publication: Developing DSM-5. 2013.
- Andreasen, N. C. & Grove, W. M. Thought, language, and communication in schizophrenia: diagnosis and prognosis. Schizophrenia bulletin 12, 348–359 (1986).
- Andreasen, N. C. Evaluation of brain imaging techniques in mental illness. Annual review of medicine 39, 335-345 (1988).
- Andreasen, N. C. Positive and negative symptoms: historical and conceptual aspects. Modern Problems of Pharmacopsychiatry 24, 1–42 (1990).
- Andreasen, N. C. & Carpenter, W. T. Diagnosis and classification of schizophrenia. Schizophrenia Bulletin 19, 199–214 (1993).
- Andreasen, N. C., Arndt, S., Alliger, R., Miller, D. & Flaum, M. Symptoms of Schizophrenia: Methods, Meanings, and Mechanisms. Archives of General Psychiatry 52, 341–351 (1995).
- Andreasen, N. C. The evolving concept of schizophrenia: From Kraepelin to the present and future. in Schizophrenia Research 28, 105–109 (1997).
- Arciniegas, D. B. Psychosis. CONTINUUM: Lifelong Learning in Neurology 21, 715–736 (2015).
- Ayer, A. et al. Formal thought disorder in first-episode psychosis. Comprehensive Psychiatry 70, 209–215 (2016).

- Bassett, D. S. et al. Hierarchical Organization of Human Cortical Networks in Health and Schizophrenia. Journal of Neuroscience 28, 9239–9248 (2008).
- Beer, M. D. Psychosis: From mental disorder to disease concept. History of Psychiatry 6, 177–200 (1995).
- Beer, M. D. Psychosis: A history of the concept. Comprehensive Psychiatry 37, 273–291 (1996).
- Berrios, G. E. Historical aspects of psychoses: 19th century issues. British medical bulletin 43, 484–98 (1987).
- Berrios, G.E., Luque, R. & Villagrán J. Schizophrenia: A Conceptual History. International Journal of Psychology and Psychological Therapy 3, 111-140 (2003).
- Bilder, R. M., Mukherjee, S., Rieder, R. O. & Pandurangi, A. K. Symptomatic and neuropsychological components of defect states. Schizophrenia Bulletin 11, 409– 419 (1985).
- Biswal, B., Zerrin Yetkin, F., Haughton, V. M. & Hyde, J. S. Functional connectivity in the motor cortex of resting human brain using echo???planar mri. Magnetic Resonance in Medicine 34, 537–541 (1995).
- Bleuler, E. (1950). Dementia praecox or the group of schizophrenias. Oxford, England: International Universities Press.
- Bobes, J., Arango, C., Garcia-Garcia, M. & Rejas, J. Prevalence of negative symptoms in outpatients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders treated with antipsychotics in routine clinical practice: Findings from the CLAMORS study. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry 71, 280–286 (2010).
- Bracha, H. S., Wolkowitz, O. M., Lohr, J. B., Karson, C. N. & Bigelow, L. B. High prevalence of visual hallucinations in research subjects with chronic schizophrenia. American Journal of Psychiatry 146, 526–528 (1989).
- Breier, A. & Berg, P. H. The psychosis of schizophrenia: Prevalence, response to atypical antipsychotics, and prediction of outcome. Biological Psychiatry 46, 361–364 (1999).

- Buckner, R. L. et al. Cortical Hubs Revealed by Intrinsic Functional Connectivity: Mapping, Assessment of Stability, and Relation to Alzheimer's Disease. Journal of Neuroscience 29, 1860–1873 (2009).
- Bullmore, E. & Sporns, O. Complex brain networks: Graph theoretical analysis of structural and functional systems. Nature Reviews Neuroscience 10, 186–198 (2009).
- Cao, H. et al. Altered functional subnetwork during emotional face processing a potential intermediate phenotype for schizophrenia. JAMA Psychiatry 73, 598–605 (2016).
- Cavelti, M., Kircher, T., Nagels, A., Strik, W. & Homan, P. Is formal thought disorder in schizophrenia related to structural and functional aberrations in the language network? A systematic review of neuroimaging findings. Schizophrenia Research 199, 2–16 (2018).
- Cheng, H. et al. Nodal centrality of functional network in the differentiation of schizophrenia. Schizophrenia Research 168, 345–352 (2015).
- Chue, P. & Lalonde, J. K. Addressing the unmet needs of patients with persistent negative symptoms of schizophrenia: Emerging pharmacological treatment options. Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment 10, 777–789 (2014).
- Cole, M. W., Anticevic, A., Repovs, G. & Barch, D. Variable global dysconnectivity and individual differences in schizophrenia. Biological Psychiatry 70, 43–50 (2011).
- Csernansky, J. G. & Schuchart, E. K. Relapse and rehospitalisation rates in patients with schizophrenia: Effects of second generation antipsychotics. CNS Drugs 16, 473–484 (2002).
- Doering, S. et al. Predictors of relapse and rehospitalization in schizophrenia and schizoaffective disorder. Psychiatria Danubina 10, 419–430 (1998).
- Erhart, S. M., Marder, S. R. & Carpenter, W. T. Treatment of schizophrenia negative symptoms: Future prospects. in Schizophrenia Bulletin 32, 234–237 (2006).

- Feigenson, K. A., Gara, M. A., Roché, M. W. & Silverstein, S. M. Is disorganization a feature of schizophrenia or a modifying influence: Evidence of covariation of perceptual and cognitive organization in a non-patient sample. Psychiatry Research 217, 1–8 (2014).
- Friston, K. J. & Frith, C. D. Schizophrenia: a disconnection syndrome? Clinical neuroscience (New York, N.Y.) 3, 89–97 (1995).
- Gaebel, W. & Zielasek, J. Focus on psychosis. Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience 17, 9– 18 (2015).
- Hardy-Baylé, M. C., Sarfati, Y. & Passerieux, C. The Cognitive Basis of Disorganization Symptomatology in Schizophrenia and Its Clinical Correlates: Toward a Pathogenetic Approach to Disorganization. Schizophrenia Bulletin 29, 459–471 (2003).
- Haro, J. M. et al. Understanding the course of persistent symptoms in schizophrenia: Longitudinal findings from the pattern study. Psychiatry Research 267, 56–62 (2018).
- Harrow, M. & Marengo, J. T. Schizophrenic thought disorder at followup: its persistence and prognostic significance. Schizophrenia Bulletin 12, 373–393 (1986).
- Harrow, M., Marengo, J. & McDonald, C. The early course of schizophrenic thought disorder. Schizophrenia bulletin 12, 208–224 (1986).
- Harvey, P. D., Earle-Boyer, E. A. & Wielgus, M. S. The consistency of thought disorder in mania and schizophrenia: An assessment of acute psychotics. Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease 172, 458–463 (1984).
- He, Z. et al. Aberrant intrinsic brain activity and cognitive deficit in first-episode treatment-naive patients with schizophrenia. Psychological Medicine 43, 769–780 (2013).
- Horn, H. et al. Structural and metabolic changes in language areas linked to formal thought disorder. Br. J. Psychiatry 194 (2), 130-138 (2009).

Jaspers Karl. Allgemeine Psychopathologie. Berlin, Germany: Springer; 1973.

- Kambeitz, J. et al. Aberrant Functional Whole-Brain Network Architecture in Patients with Schizophrenia: A Meta-analysis. Schizophrenia Bulletin 42, S13–S21 (2016).
- Kay, S. R., Fiszbein, A. & Opler, L. A. The positive and negative syndrome scale (PANSS) for schizophrenia. Schizophrenia Bulletin 13, 261–276 (1987).
- Kircher, T., Bröhl, H., Meier, F. & Engelen, J. Formal thought disorders: from phenomenology to neurobiology. The Lancet Psychiatry 5, 515–526 (2018).
- Kulhara, P., Kota S. & Joseph S. Positive and negative subtypes of schizophrenia. A study from India. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica 74, 353–359 (1986).
- Lehman, A. F., Rachuba, L. T. & Postrado, L. T. Demographic influences on quality of life among persons with chronic mental illnesses. Evaluation and Program Planning 18, 155–164 (1995).
- Leonhard, K. in Psychiatry The State of the Art 59–64 (Springer US, 1985). doi:10.1007/978-1-4757-1853-9_8
- Liddle, P. F. The symptoms of chronic schizophrenia. A re-examination of the positivenegative dichotomy. British Journal of Psychiatry 151, 145–151 (1987).
- Liemburg, E. J. et al. Reduced connectivity in the self-processing network of schizophrenia patients with poor insight. PLoS ONE 7, (2012).
- Mamah, D., Barch, D. M. & Repovš, G. Resting state functional connectivity of five neural networks in bipolar disorder and schizophrenia. Journal of Affective Disorders 150, 601–609 (2013).
- Marengo, J. T. & Harrow, M. Longitudinal courses of thought disorder in schizophrenia and schizoaffective disorder. Schizophrenia Bulletin 23, 273–285 (1997).
- Menezes, N. M., Arenovich, T. & Zipursky, R. B. A systematic review of longitudinal outcome studies of first-episode psychosis. Psychological Medicine 36, 1349–1362 (2006).

- Moskowitz, A. "Pierre Janet's Influence on Bleuler's Concept of Schizophrenia." Trauma, Dissoziation Und Pers Önlichkeit: Pierre Janets Beitr Äge Zur Modernen Psychiatrie, Psychologie Und Psychotherapie (Trauma, Dissociation, Personality: On Pierre Janet's Influence on Modern Psychiatry, Psychology and Psychotherapy. Ed. Peter Fiedler. Lengerich: Pabst Science Publishers, 2006. 158–179.
- Norman, R. M. G. et al. Symptoms and cognition as predictors of community functioning: A prospective analysis. American Journal of Psychiatry 156, 400–405 (1999).
- Novick, D., Haro, J. M., Perrin, E., Suarez, D. & Texeira, J. M. Tolerability of outpatient antipsychotic treatment: 36-month results from the European Schizophrenia Outpatient Health Outcomes (SOHO) study. European Neuropsychopharmacology 19, 542–550 (2009).
- Ortiz, B. B. et al. Disorganized Symptoms Predicted Worse Functioning Outcome in Schizophrenia Patients with Established Illness. Clinical Schizophrenia & Related Psychoses 11, 151–155 (2017).
- Os, J. V. & Kapur, S. Seminar Schizophrenia. The Lancet 374, 635–645 (2009).
- Palaniyappan, L., Simmonite, M., White, T. P., Liddle, E. B. & Liddle, P. F. Neural primacy of the salience processing system in schizophrenia. Neuron 79, 814–828 (2013b).
- Palaniyappan, L. & Liddle, P. F. Diagnostic discontinuity in psychosis: A combined study of cortical gyrification and functional connectivity. Schizophrenia Bulletin 40, 675–684 (2014).
- Palaniyappan, L. et al. Effective connectivity within a triple network brain system discriminates schizophrenia spectrum disorders from psychotic bipolar disorder at the single-subject level. Schizophrenia Research (2018a). doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2018.01.006
- Palaniyappan, L. et al. Effective connectivity within a triple network brain system discriminates schizophrenia spectrum disorders from psychotic bipolar disorder at the single-subject level. Schizophrenia Research (2018b). doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2018.01.006
- Picchioni, Marco M, and Robin M Murray. "Schizophrenia." BMJ: British Medical Journal 335.7610 (2007): 91–95. PMC.

- Rabinowitz, J. et al. Negative symptoms have greater impact on functioning than positive symptoms in schizophrenia: Analysis of CATIE data. Schizophrenia Research 137, 147–150 (2012).
- Repovs, G., Csernansky, J. G. & Barch, D. M. Brain network connectivity in individuals with schizophrenia and their siblings. Biological Psychiatry 69, 967–973 (2011).
- Ritsner, M. S. The clinical and therapeutic potentials of dehydroepiandrosterone and pregnenolone in schizophrenia. Neuroscience 191, 91–100 (2011).
- Rocca, P. et al. Disorganization and real-world functioning in schizophrenia: Results from the multicenter study of the Italian Network for Research on Psychoses. Schizophrenia Research (2018). doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2018.06.003
- Roche, E., Creed, L., MacMahon, D., Brennan, D. & Clarke, M. The Epidemiology and Associated Phenomenology of Formal Thought Disorder: A Systematic Review. Schizophrenia Bulletin 1–12 (2015). doi:10.1093/schbul/sbu129
- Russo, M. et al. Association between symptom dimensions and categorical diagnoses of psychosis: A cross-sectional and longitudinal investigation. Schizophrenia Bulletin 40, 111–119 (2014).
- Sabri, O. et al. Correlation of positive symptoms exclusively to hyperperfusion or hypoperfusion of cerebral cortex in never-treated schizophrenics. Lancet 349, 1735–1739 (1997).
- Skudlarski, P. et al. Brain Connectivity Is Not Only Lower but Different in Schizophrenia: A Combined Anatomical and Functional Approach. Biological Psychiatry 68, 61– 69 (2010).
- Smith, S. M. et al. Acquisition and voxelwise analysis of multi-subject diffusion data with tract-based spatial statistics. Nature Protocols 2, 499–503 (2007).
- Stahl, S. M. & Grady, M. M. A critical review of atypical antipsychotic utilization: comparing monotherapy with polypharmacy and augmentation. Curr.Med Chem. 11, 313–327 (2004).

- Stephan, K. E., Friston, K. J. & Frith, C. D. Dysconnection in Schizophrenia: From abnormal synaptic plasticity to failures of self-monitoring. Schizophrenia Bulletin 35, 509–527 (2009).
- Stephane, M., Barton, S. & Boutros, N. N. Auditory verbal hallucinations and dysfunction of the neural substrates of speech. Schizophrenia Research 50, 61–78 (2001).
- Strik, W. et al. The Bern psychopathology scale for the assessment of system-specific psychotic symptoms. Neuropsychobiology 61, 197–209 (2010).
- Sumner, P. J., Bell, I. H. & Rossell, S. L. A systematic review of task-based functional neuroimaging studies investigating language, semantic and executive processes in thought disorder. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews 94, 59–75 (2018a).
- Sumner, P. J., Bell, I. H. & Rossell, S. L. A systematic review of the structural neuroimaging correlates of thought disorder. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews 84, 299–315 (2018b).
- Suzuki, T. et al. Treatment resistant schizophrenia and response to antipsychotics: a review. Schizophrenia research 133, 54–62 (2011).
- Suzuki, T. et al. Defining treatment-resistant schizophrenia and response to antipsychotics: A review and recommendation. Psychiatry Research 197, 1–6 (2012).
- Tewarie, P. et al. Functional brain network analysis using minimum spanning trees in Multiple Sclerosis: An MEG source-space study. NeuroImage 88, 308–318 (2014).
- Thyer B. The DSM-5 Definition of Mental Disorder: Critique and Alternatives. 2015.
- Ungvari, Gabor S. "The Wernicke-Kleist-Leonhard School of Psychiatry." Biological Psychiatry 34.11 (1993): 749–752. Biological Psychiatry. Web.
- van den Heuvel, M. P. et al. Proportional thresholding in resting-state fMRI functional connectivity networks and consequences for patient-control connectome studies: Issues and recommendations. NeuroImage 152, 437–449 (2017).

- Váša, F. et al. Adolescent tuning of association cortex in human structural brain networks. Cerebral Cortex 28, 281–294 (2018).
- Verdoux, H. & Van Os, J. Psychotic symptoms in non-clinical populations and the continuum of psychosis. in Schizophrenia Research 54, 59–65 (2002).
- Wensing, T. et al. Neural correlates of formal thought disorder: An activation likelihood estimation meta-analysis. Human Brain Mapping 38, 4946–4965 (2017).

Wernicke C (1899): Psychiatrie, 1st ed. Leipzig, Germany: Barth.

- Woo, C. W., Krishnan, A. & Wager, T. D. Cluster-extent based thresholding in fMRI analyses: Pitfalls and recommendations. NeuroImage 91, 412–419 (2014).
- World Health Organization. The ICD-10 Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders. World Health Organization 1–267 (1993). doi:10.4103/0019

World Health Organisation: Fact sheet, updated April 2018.

- Yan, C. G. et al. A comprehensive assessment of regional variation in the impact of head micromovements on functional connectomics. NeuroImage 76, 183–201 (2013a).
- Yan, C. G., Craddock, R. C., Zuo, X. N., Zang, Y. F. & Milham, M. P. Standardizing the intrinsic brain: Towards robust measurement of inter-individual variation in 1000 functional connectomes. NeuroImage 80, 246–262 (2013b).
- Yoon, J. H. et al. Automated classification of fMRI during cognitive control identifies more severely disorganized subjects with schizophrenia. Schizophrenia Research 135, 28–33 (2012).
- Yu, Q. et al. Assessing dynamic brain graphs of time-varying connectivity in fMRI data: Application to healthy controls and patients with schizophrenia. NeuroImage 107, 345–355 (2015).
- Zalesky, A., Fornito, A. & Bullmore, E. T. Network-based statistic: Identifying differences in brain networks. NeuroImage 53, 11

Zuo, X. N. et al. Network centrality in the human functional connectome. Cerebral Cortex 22, 1862–1875 (2012).
Chapter 2: Manuscript

2 Title: Conceptual disorganization and redistribution of resting state cortical hubs in untreated first episode psychosis: A 7T study

2.1 Authors

Avyarthana Dey^{1,2}, Kara Dempster ^{1,2,3}, Michael McKinley ^{1,2,3}, Tushar Das ^{1,2,3}, Peter Jeon ^{3,4}, Ali Khan^{1,4,5}, Joe Gati^{1,4,5}, Lena Palaniyappan^{1,2,3,4,5}

2.2 Author affiliations

1 Robarts Research Institute, London, ON. Canada

2 Department of Psychiatry, University of Western Ontario, London, ON. Canada

3 Lawson Health Research Institute, London, ON. Canada

4 Department of Medical Biophysics, University of Western Ontario, London, ON. Canada

5 The Brain and Mind Institute, University of Western Ontario, London, ON, Canada

2.3 Abstract

Background:

Network level dysconnectivity has been studied in positive and negative symptoms of schizophrenia. Conceptual disorganization (CD) is a symptom which predicts impaired real-world functioning. Systematic reviews have reported aberrant connectivity in formal thought disorder, a construct related to CD. However, no studies have investigated whole-brain functional correlates of CD in psychosis. We sought to investigate brain regions

explaining the severity of CD in patients with first-episode psychosis (FEPs) compared with healthy controls (HCs).

Methods:

We computed whole-brain binarized degree centrality maps of 31 FEPs, 25 HCs and characterized the patterns of network connectivity in the two groups. In FEPs, we related these findings to the severity of CD. We also studied the effect of positive and negative symptoms on altered network connectivity.

Results:

Compared to HCs, the FEPs showed reduced hubness of a cluster located in the right superior temporal gyrus (rSTG). In patients exhibiting high CD, increased hubness of a medial superior parietal (mSPL) cluster was observed, compared to patients exhibiting low CD. These two regions were strongly correlated with CD scores but not with other symptom scores.

Discussion:

Our observations are congruent with previous findings of reduced but not increased hubness. We observed increased hubness of mSPL suggesting that cortical reorganization occurs to provide alternate routes for information transfer.

Conclusion:

These findings provide insight into the underlying neural processes mediating the presentation of symptoms in untreated FEP. A longitudinal tracking of the symptom course will be useful to assess the mechanisms underlying these compensatory changes.

2.4 Keywords

conceptual disorganization, first-episode psychosis, resting-state fMRI, graph theory, cortical reorganization

2.5 Introduction

Disorganization is one of the three distinct syndromes of schizophrenia (Bilder et al., 1985; Kulhara et al., 1986; Liddle, 1987; Andreasen et al., 1995), defined collectively as the impairment of the form of thought processes (conceptual disorganization) and bizarre actions (behavioural disorganization). Conceptual disorganization (CD), in particular, is comprised of difficulties in the goal-directed sequencing of thoughts that manifest as circumstantial, illogical or tangential speech or weakened goal of thinking (loose associations) (Kay et al., 1987). CD has been shown to be tightly linked to real-world functioning (Bellack et al., 1994; Galderisi et al., 2014; Rocca et al., 2018). Conceptual disorganization is also referred to as 'formal thought disorder (FTD)', though the latter is often measured using specific instruments that focus on testing aspects of speech rather than the clinical interpretation of disorganization. While the construct of FTD encompasses both positive (e.g. illogical, tangential, loosened speech) as well as negative (e.g. poverty of speech, reduced content of speech) FTD, the clinical construct of CD refers only to positive aspects of FTD.

CD is seen in both acute and chronic stages of established psychosis (schizophrenia) (Feigenson et al., 2014), with some indication that the pathophysiology of persistent CD may be distinct from the acute CD seen during an active psychotic episode (Breier and Berg, 1999). For example, the acute CD resolves in many patients over time (Andreasen, 1979; Harrow and Marengo, 1986; Harrow, Marengo & McDonald, 1986; Harvey, Earle-Boyle & Wielgus et al., 1984), and often covaries with the severity of positive symptoms such as delusions and hallucinations, while the CD seen in chronic stages often emerge as a distinct subtype, with more negative features of FTD being noted (Roche et al., 2014). The persistence of CD despite treatment in longitudinal cohorts has also led to the suggestion that existing treatments are not fully effective in alleviating the degree of disorganization in patients with psychosis (Harrow and Marengo, 1986; Andreasen and Grove; 1986; Marengo and Harrow, 1997).

A large body of neuroimaging literature has attempted to parse the brain regions implicated in the thought disorders of schizophrenia (Kircher et al., 2018), with several comprehensive systematic reviews (Roche et al., 2014; Kircher et al., 2018; Cavelti et al., 2018) providing an excellent overview of the reported brain correlates of conceptual disorganization (more specifically, FTD). These reviews indicate that a large number of studies have focussed explicitly on aberrations in language processing brain regions (especially superior temporal gyrus) as the major structural and functional underpinnings of FTD (Sumner et al., 2018; Wensing et al., 2017). Nevertheless, null findings as well as findings that implicate brain regions that are not considered to be a part of the language network are also reported (Sumner et al., 2018). A notable lack of studies directly relating network-level functional connectivity to disorganization has been highlighted (Cavelti et al., 2018).

A limited number of resting-state fMRI (rs-fMRI) studies have investigated the network level dysconnectivity underlying disorganization. These studies report reduced connectivity between thalamus and postcentral gyrus (Skudlarski et al., 2010), between the frontoparietal and cerebellar networks (Repovs et al., 2011), between dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) and insula, Wernicke's area, sensorimotor area and frontal pole, and increased connectivity between DLPFC and premotor cortex (Cole et al., 2011) in relation to pronounced disorganization or FTD. Taken together, dysconnectivity of several brain regions outside of the traditional language network appears to contribute to the severity of disorganization. Several studies have also failed to find a relationship between severity of disorganization and functional connectivity (Palaniyappan et al., 2013b, 2018a; Kircher et al., 2018; Cavelti et al 2017). All of these studies have been conducted on established cases of schizophrenia, with patients recruited during a stable medicated phase of illness. Thus, the neural basis of acute disorganization seen during first episode psychosis is still unclear. Furthermore, to our knowledge, there have been no studies to date that investigate voxel-by-voxel whole-brain connectivity in relation to disorganization.

In the current study, we quantified acute conceptual disorganization from a sample of 38 untreated patients with first-episode psychosis (FEP) and 31 age-matched healthy controls. We acquired rs-fMRI scans from an ultra-high field 7-tesla MRI scanner. Without making any a priori assumptions about the brain regions implicated in acute disorganization, we first undertook a whole brain, voxel wise search to locate brain regions showing aberrant

connectivity in relation to the presence of psychosis as well as the severity of disorganization. To establish the specificity of our findings to the symptom of conceptual disorganization, we studied the effect of other positive and negative symptoms of psychosis in relation to the observed results.

2.6 Materials and Methods

2.6.1 Participants

The sample consisted of 51 consecutive new referrals to the PEPP (Prevention and Early Intervention for Psychosis Program) at London Health Sciences Centre, London, Ontario, Canada between April 2017 and July 2018. The PEPP program uses an assertive casemanagement model to provide assessment and treatment to individuals 16-39 years old experiencing FEP. All potential study participants provided written, informed consent prior to participation as per the approval provided by the Western University Health Sciences Research Ethics Board, London, Ontario.

Inclusion criteria for study participation were as follows: individuals experiencing a first episode of psychosis and having received antipsychotic treatment for less than 14 days in their lifetime. Both inpatients and outpatients were eligible to participate if they were able provide informed consent and safely participate in the MRI protocol. All participants received a consensus diagnosis from 3 psychiatrists (LP/KD and the primary treatment provider) after approximately 6 months on the basis of the best estimate procedure (as described in Leckman et al., 1982) and the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-5 (APA, 2013). Following the 6-month consensus diagnosis, participants meeting criteria for bipolar disorder with psychotic features, major depressive disorder with psychotic features, or suspected drug-induced psychoses were excluded from further analyses. Care was provided as usual to the study participants through their psychiatrist and other allied health members with the PEPP program. Antipsychotic medications were chosen by the treating psychiatrist in collaboration with the patient and/or their substitute decision-maker. Individuals were offered the option of treatment with a long-acting injectable at the earliest

opportunity (Remington et al., 2017) in accordance with current national guidelines for the treatment of FEP.

Recruitment of healthy control subjects (n = 31) was carried out through posters which advertised the opportunity to participate in a neuroimaging study to track the outcomes of FEP. Healthy control subjects had no personal history of mental illness and no family history of psychotic disorders. Group matching with the FEP cohort for age, gender and parental education was maintained.

Exclusion criteria for both the FEP and healthy control groups involved meeting criteria for a substance use disorder in the past year according to DSM-5 criteria (DSM-5; APA, 2013), having a history of a major head injury (leading to a significant period of unconsciousness or seizures), having a significant, uncontrolled medical illness, or having any contraindications to undergoing MRI.

2.6.2 Clinical and cognitive assessments

The severity of symptoms in patients was assessed using the 8-item Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS-8) which measures the severity of positive and negative symptoms. We also used the Social and Occupational Functioning Assessment Scale (SOFAS) to assess the overall level of functioning (Morosini et al., 2000). We also used a modified digit symbol substitution task (DSST) to quantify processing speed, a cognitive function that shows the most prominent reduction among patients with psychosis (Dickinson et al., 2008). The written and oral items on the DSST were scored separately, and the mean scores from these items were used for assessment as in our prior study (Palaniyappan et al., 2013a).

Scores from the PANSS-8 scale were grouped into a positive component (P1, P3 and G9 measuring 'delusions', 'hallucinations' and 'unusual thought content' respectively), a negative component (N1, N4 and N6 measuring 'blunted affect', 'passive/apathetic social withdrawal' and 'lack of spontaneity & flow of conversation' respectively) and P2 measuring 'conceptual disorganization'. These 8 items were chosen as they are the most

indicative of the achievement of clinical remission when patients receive treatment (Andreasen et al., 2005) scores. The PANSS-8 was applied by one of the 2 research psychiatrists (LP or KD) on the same week of the MRI acquisition, prior to the patients receiving clinically adequate treatment (i.e. at first contact on presentation). In addition, we also quantified the severity of 2 domains of negative symptoms using Brief Negative Symptom Scale (BNSS) (Kirkpatrick et al., 2011) and overall illness severity using Clinical Global Impression (CGI) (Guy, 1976).

Patients who scored 1, 2 or 3 points on individual PANSS items were categorized to have low severity of the specific symptom (e.g. low P2), compared to those who scored 4, 5, 6 or 7 (high P2). We chose this cut-off to distinguish those who have clinically severe vs. minimal symptoms recommended by the Remission Working Group (Andreasen et al., 2005). This cut-off has also been recently employed to distinguish patients with or without formal thought disorder and language dysfunction (Çokal et al., 2018).

As different antipsychotics were prescribed, we used WHO's algorithm for defined daily doses (DDD) for antipsychotic medications (WHO, 2013) to obtain a common unit of exposure. DDD refers to a specific amount i.e. a ratio unit of the defined daily dose whose absolute milligram units varies among the different medications.

Measure	Group			Group C	omparison		
	High P2Low P2Healthy controls		$\mathbf{F} / \mathbf{T} / \gamma^2$	n value			
	Mean (S.D.)	Mean (S.D.)	Mean (S.D.)	1 / 1 / χ2	p – value		
Subjects included in the final ar	alysis						
	Demo	ographic informati	ion				
Number of subjects	12	26	31				
Age (years)	21 (2.80)	23.15 (5.04)	21.61 (3.26)	1.61	0.21		
Gender (M/F) [^]	11/1	21/5	19/12	5.02	0.08		
medication (days)	2.57 (3.55)	5.53 (4.48)	-	1.69	0.21		
(days)	207 (186)	343 (579)	-	2.36	0.13		
Total DDD of antipsychotics	1.04 (1.79)	2.91 (2.95)	-	2.26	0.15		
Diagnosis (SCZ / Other psychoses)^ National Statistics Socio-	8 / 4	21 / 5	-	0.90	0.34		
Economic Classification score	3.67 (1.22)	3.47 (1.30)	3.20 (1.42)	0.50	0.61		
Clinical and Cognitive assessments							
PANSS-8							
Conceptual disorganization (P2)†	4.5 (0.67)	1.73 (0.92)	-		< 0.001		
Lack of spontaneity & flow of conversation (N6)†	1.92 (0.996)	2.04 (1.31)	-		0.96		
Total positive component (P1 + P3 + G9)	14.10 (2.02)	13.00 (2.56)	-	1.20	0.24		
Total negative component (N1 + N4)	5.80 (3.26)	5.61 (3.22)	-	0.16	0.88		
Thought and Language Index (TLI)							
Impoverishment in thinking	0.26 (0.26)	0.10 (0.16)	0.02 (0.06)	11.85	$< 0.001^{a}$		
Disorganization in speech	0.36 (0.41)	0.22 (0.21)	0.05 (0.08)	9.28	$< 0.001^{a}$		
YMRS							
Speech rate & amount (YMRS 6)†	0.75 (1.49)	0 (0)	-		0.04		
Language / Thought disorder (YMRS 7)†	2.88 (1.81)	0.75 (1.41)	-		< 0.001		
SOFAS	37.50 (8.81)	41.83 (13.69)	79.96 (4.77)	109.17	$< 0.001^{b}$		
DSST (Mean)	53.00 (17.10)	53.27 (12.90)	68.63 (10.93)	12.26	< 0.001 ^b		
†Mann Whitney U-test	^ chi-square	S.D. = Standard	DDD = Defined data dose of entirely be	uly ^b High	P2 = Low		
^a High P2 > Low P2 > HC	High	P2: Patients with hi eptual disorganizati	igh Low P on concep	2: Patients with tual disorgan	ith low ization		

Table 1 Demographic and clinical characteristic of the sample included for analysis in the study.

Measure	sure Group					
	High P2	Low P2	Healthy controls	- E/T/w2	n valua	
	Mean (S.D.)	Mean (S.D.)	Mean (S.D.)	Γ/Ι/χ2	p - value	
Subjects excluded from the fina	l analysis					
	Demog	raphic informa	tion			
Number of subjects	9	4	0			
Age (years)	22.23 (3.64)	21.75 (4.57)	-	0.30	0.77	
Gender (M/F)^	8 / 1	2 / 2	-	2.36	0.13	
Exposure to antipsychotic medication (days)	n.a.	n.a.	-			
Duration of untreated illness (days)	551 (787.85)	212.5 (147)	-	0.83	0.42	
Total DDD of antipsychotics	n.a.	n.a.	-			
Diagnosis (SCZ / Other psychoses)^	6/3	1 / 1‡	-	0.19	0.67	
National Statistics Socio- Economic Classification score	3.11 (1.45)	2.33 (1.53)	-	0.80	0.45	
	Clinical and	l Cognitive ass	essments			
PANSS-8						
Conceptual disorganization (P2)†	4.56 (0.527)	2.00 (1.16)	-		0.003	
Lack of spontaneity & flow of conversation (N6)†	1.56 (0.882)	1.75 (0.957)	-		0.71	
Total positive component (P1 + P3 + G9)	13.22 (2.54)	10.75 (0.96)	-	1.85	0.09	
Total negative component (N1 + N4)	3.56 (2.83)	5.00 (2.16)	-	0.90	0.39	
Thought and Language Index (TLI)						
Impoverishment in thinking	0.08 (0.14)	0.21 (0.31)	-	0.589	0.46	
Disorganization in speech	0.03 (0.05)	0.70 (0.71)	-	6.397	0.03	
YMRS						
Speech rate & amount (YMRS 6)†	1.21 (1.72)	0 (0)	-		< 0.001	
Language / Thought disorder (YMRS 7)†	2.79 (1.27)	0.73 (1.85)	-		< 0.001	
SOFAS	35.22 (10.39)	46.50 (11.21)	-	1.77	0.11	
DSST (Mean)	46.39 (9.97)	57.25 (2.90)	-	2.09	0.06	
^ chi-square test	†Ma	nn Whitney U-	test S.D.	S.D. = Standard deviation		
DDD = Defined daily dose	of [‡] data u	navailable for c	ther 2 $n.a. = nc$	ot available fo	or dropout	
antipsychotics	subjects subjects					
High P2: Patients with h	ingn conceptual	Low P2: Patients with low conceptual				
uisoigailizat	disorganization					

Table 2 Demographic and clinical characteristics of the sample excluded from analysis in the study.

2.6.3 MRI acquisition

All magnetic resonance (MR) images were acquired on a 7.0 T Siemens (Erlangen, Germany) Magnetom magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scanner using a 32-channel head coil at the Centre for Functional and Metabolic Mapping (CFMM), Robarts Research Institute, Western University.

Functional (resting-state) MRI data (rs-fMRI)

A T2*-weighted 2D gradient echo planar imaging (EPI) sequence with 360 volumes [acquisition time = 6 min; repetition time (TR) = 1000 ms; echo time (TE) = 20 ms; flip angle = 30° ; FOV (read, phase) = 208 mm, 100%; number of slices = 63; slice thickness = 2 mm] was collected. Subjects were instructed to lay still inside the scanner with their eyes open for the duration of the scan and not to think of anything in particular. Foam pads were used to minimize subject head motion, and headphones were used to reduce scanner noise. Dummy scans were acquired prior to the acquisition of resting-state functional volumes to allow for the stabilization of both the signal and magnetic field.

Structural MRI data

High-resolution T1-weighted sequences were collected for co-registration with the EPI and had the following parameters: acquisition time = 9 min 38 s; TR = 6000 ms; TE = 2.83 ms; flip angles = 4° , 5° ; FOV (read, phase) = 240 mm, 100%; number of slices = 63; slice thickness = 0.75 mm.

2.6.4 Data preprocessing

All steps of data processing and analysis are displayed in Figure 1.

Preprocessing of rs-fMRI data was performed using the Data Processing Assistant for Resting-State fMRI Advanced toolbox (DPARSFA, Yan and Zang 2010, http://rfmri.org/DPARSF), which is based on the Statistical Parametric Mapping software (SPM, http://www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm, version 12) and the toolbox for Data Processing & Analysis of Brain Imaging (DPABI, Yan et al., 2016, http://rfmri.org/DPABI).

All 360 functional volumes (rs-fMRI) acquired from each subject were corrected for differences in slice acquisition times, following which images were spatially realigned to the mean image of the dataset to correct for small movements that occurred between scans. Individual T1-weighted structural images were co-registered to the mean of the realigned EPI images, followed by segmentation into gray matter, white matter, and cerebrospinal fluid (Ashburner and Friston, 2005) tissue classes. The "Diffeomorphic Anatomical Registration using Exponentiated Lie algebra" or DARTEL toolbox (Ashburner, 2007) used the information from the previous step to generate tissue class images which were rigidly transformed and in close alignment with SPM tissue probability maps.

Rs-fMRI signal measures have been shown to be highly sensitive to micro-scale head motions (Yan et al., 2013a). We derived the 24 motion parameters (Friston et al., 1996) (6 head motion parameters [t], 6 head motion parameters at the previous time point [t-1], and the squared values of these 12 measures), and regressed the variance in BOLD signal amplitude that related to these motion parameters from the realigned data, before further processing.

To control for the effects of confounding factors, linear and quadratic trends in the data as well as the signals from the white matter and cerebrospinal fluid were removed from the data with linear regression (Yan et al., 2013b). Following temporal filtering using a bandpass filter (0.01-0.1 Hz), linear detrending and standardization procedures were performed on the EPI images. The head motion 'scrubbing' routine in DPARSFA was used to correct for framewise displacement (FD) motion artifacts using the 'nearest neighbours' interpolation method (see Iwabuchi & Palaniyappan, 2017). For each subject, we estimated the mean FD in mm, averaged across 360 volumes to estimate the overall degree of motion during the acquisition (Power et al., 2012, 2014). This was then compared between groups to investigate if systematic differences in head motion influenced the results reported.

We excluded 13 subjects due to motion during acquisition (n=5), failure of quality check during preprocessing (n=5), experiencing anxiety inside the scanner (n=2), not resting during the scan (n=1) (13 FEPs, 0 HCs). The excluded subjects did not differ from the patients who were included in the final sample in terms of age, gender and PANSS-8 total, DSST, NSSEC, SOFAS scores (all p > 0.06) (Table 2), except for head motion which was higher in the excluded group (p < 0.001).

2.6.5 Computing degree centrality maps

To quantify the whole brain connectivity of each voxel to the rest of the brain, we employed the metric of degree centrality which was first introduced by Buckner et al., 2009. The number of connections each voxel has with every other voxel in the brain above a certain threshold (r = 0.25 in this case), determines the degree centrality (DC) of that voxel. We restricted our voxel-wise analyses of degree centrality (DC) to a predefined gray matter mask to control for correlation estimates with non-gray matter voxels. This gray matter tissue probability template, released as a part of the tissue priors in SPM12, was resliced using the 'Utilities' function provided by the DPARSFA software to match the dimensions (104 x 104 x 63) of the acquired functional images. The gray matter mask was warped into individual space using DARTEL information to compute DC maps in the 'native' space for each subject.

Individual voxel-wise network centrality maps were generated within the study gray matter mask by subjecting the preprocessed functional runs to a time-series correlation analysis conducted for all voxels over the whole brain. The time-series of each voxel within the gray matter mask was correlated with the time-series of every other voxel, which resulted in a time-series correlation matrix. A correlation threshold of r > 0.25 (Buckner et al., 2009; Zuo et al., 2012; Yan et al., 2013a, b) was used to generate an undirected adjacency matrix. We computed both binarized DC (bDC - the number of edges in the binarized adjacency matrix, thresholded at r = 0.25) and the weighted DC (wDC - the sum of the weights of all pairwise connections for each voxel (Zuo et al., 2012). The individual-level voxel-wise bDC and wDC maps were converted into respective z-score

maps by subtracting the mean DC across the entire brain and dividing by the standard deviation of the whole-brain DC (Zuo et al., 2012; Yan et al., 2013b). The resulting maps were then registered into MNI space with dimensions of isotropic 3 mm3 cubic voxels using the transformation information acquired from DARTEL. A smoothing kernel of 4 mm full-width at half-maximum was applied after registration to enable parametric mapping.

As the one-sample and group comparison contrasts for both wDC and bDC were very similar to each other, we only report bDC results in the following section. The wDC maps for primary analysis (HC vs FEP comparison) are shown in Appendix 1).



Figure 1 Steps of preprocessing performed in this study, including slice timing correction, realignment, coregistration to structural image, segmentation into GM, WM and CSF tissue classes, nuisance covariates regression, filtering, removing linear trends from data (detrending), computing DC maps in the 'native' space, normalization to MNI template using DARTEL information, smoothing.

2.7 Statistical analysis

2.7.1.1 Contrasts

We were primarily interested in 2 contrasts. First, to locate brain regions with aberrant connectivity in relation to FEP, we compared all FEP subjects with control subjects. Second, to locate brain regions with aberrant connectivity in relation to CD, we compared high P2 with low P2 subjects. In order to interpret the specific region-to-region functional connections affected by aberrant bDC, we used a seed-based functional connectivity approach (6 mm sphere around the centre of mass of the cluster) and studied the relationship between time series of BOLD signals of the seed and the rest of the brain within the FEP group.

2.7.1.2 Correction for multiple testing

For all statistical analyses in this study, the threshold for significance was set after correction for multiple testing using a familywise error correction procedure (Nichols and Hayasaka, 2013). A conservative cluster inclusion threshold of p<0.001 was used to define the clusters (Woo et al., 2014), with a cluster-level significance set at family-wise error (FWE) corrected p < 0.05. Given the limitations of clusterwise procedures when making localised spatial inferences, we primarily interpret the location of the centre of mass of the identified clusters, and not the individual voxel peaks. The nomenclature used in AAL atlas (Tzourio-Mazoyer et al., 2002) was used to label the significant clusters. As gender was not balanced between patients and controls in the final sample, gender was used as a covariate in all group contrasts.

2.7.1.3 Specificity of findings to P2 scores

Firstly, to demonstrate that the binary split based on a cut-off value does not spuriously result in apparent group differences, we used Spearman's correlation to relate the eigenvariate of the cluster showing bDC changes in high vs low symptom severity comparisons to the individual symptom score. Next, to investigate if the findings are specific to P2 as a symptom and not to other symptoms of psychosis, we first compared the low and high P2 groups on the distributions of all individual symptom scores (namely, N6 - the equivalent of negative FTD, G5, positive symptoms (P1, P3, G9), as well as negative symptoms (N1, N4) of PANSS-8). We also investigated differences in the DSST scores, SOFAS, BNSS between the low P2 and high P2 groups. For the clinical features that differed between the two P2-based groups, we repeated the low vs. high severity between groups analysis of bDC maps.

2.8 Results

2.8.1 Demographic and clinical characteristics

All patients were acutely psychotic, minimally treated and had significant social and occupational dysfunction at the time of scanning. The average duration of illness (including prodrome) was 302 days (S.D. = 495 days), with the mean number of days of exposure to antipsychotic medication being < 4 days at the time of scanning.

The demographic and clinical characteristics of the sample are presented in Table 1. The two patient groups did not differ from HCs in terms of age, gender and socioeconomic status. The two patient groups did not differ in terms of age, gender, socioeconomic status, duration of untreated illness in days, exposure to antipsychotic medication in days, total daily dose of antipsychotic medication and the number of patients with schizophrenia in either group (diagnosed 6 months after the initial presentation). Across the three groups, we observed a significant difference for the SOFAS and DSST (mean) scores, confirmed by an ANOVA.

2.8.2 Effect of psychosis on bDC

Two sample t-tests of bDC between the two groups (FEP, HC) revealed a significant reduction in hubness of the right superior temporal gyrus (STG), right insula and right Heschl's gyrus in patients with FEP compared to HCs. The group differences are

shown in Table 3 and Figure 2 (a). No significant increases in hubness were observed in the patient group compared to HCs.

We also performed a two sample t-test of wDC between the two groups and observed the same brain regions showing differences in the two groups (Appendix 1).

Cluster information					Peak voxe	l statistics
Brain regions included in cluster (AAL labels)	Cluster size x	Peak MNI c	oordina	– T- value	p-value (cFWE corrected)	
		у	Z			
FEP < HC						
STG/Insula cluster	148	48	-9	3	5.00	0.001
Temporal_Sup_R	75					
Insula_R	46					
Heschl_R	22					
FEP > HC						
Not significant						
cFWE = cluster FWE	MN Neu Insti	I = Montreal rological tute	FEP episo psyc	= First ode hosis	HC = H control	Iealthy s

Table 3 Brain regions showing reduced hubness in the FEP (n = 38) group compared to HCs (n = 31).

2.8.3 Functional connectivity of STG/insula cluster with the rest of the brain

In seed-based FC within the entire FEP group, we noted that the right STG/insula cluster showed significant functional connectivity with a set of distributed brain regions, including bilateral insula, middle cingulate region, SMA, as well as clusters in bilateral thalamus, bilateral calcarine and lingual regions extending to cerebellum (lobules 4, 5 and 6), and two clusters located at the left and right middle frontal gyrus. This indicates that the right

STG/insula cluster belongs to a distributed network of other highly connected hub regions of the salience network as well as executive network (Table 4 and Figure 2 (b)). [Also see the Appendix 2 for the meta-analytic functional connectivity data from Neurosynth database]. We did not find any significant differences in the functional connectivity between patients and control subjects on a two sample t test, indicating that the reduced hubness of the right STG/insula cluster in psychosis is not driven by any specific network level reductions in connectivity.

Cluster information					Peak vox	el statistics
Brain regions included in	Cluster	Peak MNI coordinates			T-	p-value (cFWE
cluster (AAL labels)	size	х	у	Z	value	corrected)
STG/Insula cluster	10298	51	-6	3	13.23	< 0.001
Postcentral_R/L	739					
Temporal_Sup_R/L	597					
Insula_R/L	376					
Precentral_R/L	563					
Paracentral_Lobule_R/L	241					
Supp_Motor_Area_R/L	384					
Thalamus cluster	307	-12	-21	3	9.72	< 0.001
Cerebelum cluster	447	-33	-24	3	8.02	< 0.001
Calcarine_R/L	333					
Cerebelum_4_5_R/L	232					
Cerebelum_6_R/L	210					
Lingual_R/L	202					
Left middle frontal gyrus cluster	344	-30	33	33	8.41	< 0.001
Right middle frontal gyrus cluster	194	39	51	15	7.59	< 0.001
cFWE = cluster FWF	MNI = Montreal			AAL = Automated Anatomical		
$CI \rightarrow CI = CIUSUCI I \rightarrow CI$	Neurological Institute			Labeling		

Table 4 Functional connectivity of the STG/insula cluster to other brain areas for subjects in the FEP group (n = 38). The colour bar indicates T-values.



Figure 2 (a) Brain regions showing reduced hubness in the FEP (n = 38) group compared to HCs (n = 31) (yellow), (b) Functional connectivity of the STG/insula cluster to other brain areas for subjects in the FEP group (n = 38). The colour bars indicate T-values.

2.8.4 Effect of conceptual disorganization on bDC

In patients with high P2 compared to low P2, we observed a significant increase in bDC of a medial superior parietal cluster, comprising of paracentral lobule and precuneus regions. Results are shown in Table 5 and Figure 3 (a).

Cluster information					Peak vox	el statistics
Brain regions included	Cluster size	Peak M	NI coordi	nates	_ T- value	p-value (cFWE corrected)
in cluster (AAL labels)		X	у	Z		
High P2 > Low P2						
Medial superior parietal lobule cluster	88	-12	-30	69	4.93	< 0.001
Paracentral_Lobule_R/L	59					
Precuneus_R/L	17					
cFWE = cluster FWE	MNI = Montreal Neurological Institute			e	AAL = Anatomica	utomated l Labeling

Table 5 Brain regions showing reduced hubness in the High P2 group (n = 12) compared to the Low P2 group (n = 26).

In patients with FEP as a group, the medial superior parietal cluster showed significant functional connectivity with a cluster comprising of the post/precentral regions, middle cingulate cortex and SMA, as well as bilateral STG and right middle temporal gyrus. This indicates that the region showing increased hubness among patients with high degree of disorganization is functionally connected to sensorimotor (post/precentral regions), motor planning and control (middle cingulate cortex and SMA) regions and to a limited extent, to language processing regions (bilateral STG and right middle temporal gyrus) in patients (Table 6 and Figure 3 (b)).

Cluster information					Peak vox	el statistics
Brain regions included	Cluster	Peak M	NI coordi	nates	- T-	p-value
in cluster (AAL labels)	size	Х	У	Z	value	(cFWE corrected)
Precuneus/SMA cluster	4838	-12	-27	75	9.45	< 0.001
Postcentral_R/L	351					
Precuneus_R/L	342					
Cingulum_Mid_R/L	279					
Precentral_R/L	261					
Paracentral_Lobule_R/L	255					
Supp_Motor_Area_R/L	233					
Gyrus rectus cluster	195	9	30	-21	7.94	< 0.001
Rectus_R/L	55					
Frontal_Med_Orb_R	50					
Sup. Temporal gyrus cluster	466	54	-18	6	8.39	< 0.001
Temporal Sup R/L	247					
	2.7					
Middle temporal gyrus cluster	130	51	-66	9	7.07	< 0.001
cFWE = cluster FWE	MN Neurol	I = Montro ogical Ins	eal titute	A	AAL = Aut natomical	tomated Labeling

Table 6 Functional connectivity of the medial superior parietal lobule cluster to other brain areas in the FEP group (n = 38).



Figure 3 (a) Brain regions showing reduced hubness in the High P2 group (n = 12) compared to the Low P2 group (n = 26). (b) Functional connectivity of the medial superior parietal lobule cluster to other brain areas in the FEP group (n = 38). The colour bars indicate T-values.

2.8.5 Specificity of findings to disorganization

To test the specificity of the relationship between CD and increased bDC of medial SPL cluster, we extracted the principal eigenvariate of bDC from this cluster for each patient, and related this to individual symptom scores (P1, P3, N1, N4, N6, G5, G9), DSST score, SOFAS, mean framewise displacement, age and CGI severity score, using Spearman's correlation test. There were no significant correlations (uncorrected p ranging from 0.13 to 0.75). Furthermore, there were no systematic differences in the distributions of clinical and demographic variables (other than P2 scores) between the two groups of patients.

We observed a significant relationship between P2 scores and bDC of medial superior parietal cluster (Spearman's rho= 0.42, p=0.009), confirming that the observed results are not influenced by the cut-off used to identify highly disorganized FEP subjects.

We did not find any significant differences in the functional connectivity between the high P2 and low P2 groups on a two sample t test, indicating that the increase in hubness of the paracentral cluster in high P2 group is not driven by any localised aberrations in connectivity.

2.8.6 Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first voxel-wise whole brain study investigating the neural basis of acute conceptual disorganization. In an acutely psychotic sample representative of the minimally treated patients with first episode psychosis, we report the following 3 major findings using ultra high-field 7T resting-state fMRI data: (1) Patients with acute first-episode psychosis (FEP) show reduced hubness of the right superior temporal cortex, a region that is functionally coupled to many other established cortical hubs (insula, midcingulate cortex, thalamus and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex), (2) Highly conceptually disorganized patients, compared to those with lower levels of disorganization, demonstrate a significant increase in the hubness of medial superior parietal region that is functionally coupled to sensorimotor regions (3) This pattern of increased hubness observed in a task-

free resting state among the acutely symptomatic FEP patients is specific to the symptom of conceptual disorganization, not influenced by other positive/ negative symptoms or degree of reduced functioning among patients.

Our observation of reduced hubness affecting superior temporal gyrus and insula is consistent with our prior work in a medicated sample of patients with schizophrenia (Palaniyappan & Liddle, 2014). In that previous study, we also observed increased hubness in the hippocampus, thalamus, inferior temporal and occipital regions in patients with schizophrenia compared to healthy controls. In the current acutely psychotic, early stage sample, the lack of any increased hubness in FEP indicates that the emergence of such peripheral hubs in visual cortex and medial/inferior temporal regions may be a feature of chronicity or treatment effect rather than being a feature of psychosis per se.

We observed an association between increased hubness of paracentral/medial superior parietal region that is not conventionally regarded as a functional hub and conceptual disorganization. Interestingly, this cluster was functionally connected to the superior and middle temporal regions as well as regions comprising the sensorimotor network (Dosenbach et al., 2010). Assuming that the pathophysiology of psychosis is a generalized dysconnectivity that has a preponderance to affect regions such as STG due to their higher hubness, one would not expect to see an increased hubness of peripheral, sensory nodes in a subgroup of patients. In this context, our results reaffirm the notion that distinct pathophysiological processes are likely to underlie the myriad of symptoms seen in psychosis.

In so far as functional connectivity reflects the ability to transmit information across distant brain regions, it is possible that the emergence of peripheral (sensory) hubs could be a compensatory mechanism to preserve brain function. This may result in a re-routing of information transmitted via functional brain networks (Palaniyappan, 2017). Such rerouting could result in an aberrant shunting of associative processes (in line with Wernicke's notion of sejunction (Franzek, 1990)), resulting in disorganized speech. While we cannot disentangle the compensatory changes from the causally influential changes in the present study, longitudinal tracking of the symptom course as well as change in hubness will clarify this issue.

While most previous studies that recruited patients with persistent disorganization in later stages of illness implicated a role for the language processing regions, we note STG hubness to be reduced in both high and low P2 groups. It is worth noting that the extant literature implicating language regions in thought disorder sought changes in language network a priori, rather than taking a discovery approach without task constraints. Cavelti et al., 2017 and Sumner et al., 2018 could identify only 2 resting state fMRI studies investigating this issue, despite their exhaustive search. Interestingly, these few whole brain studies have reported sensorimotor dysconnectivity in association with thought disorder. It is also important to note that STG changes seen in patients with psychosis are not specific to thought disorder (Sumner et al., 2018). For instance, a large body of structural and functional studies implicate STG in negative symptoms (Fischer et al., 2012; Li et al., 2018), as well as auditory hallucinations (Modinos et al., 2013, Palaniyappan et al., 2012). Our findings support the notion that language network dysfunction is likely to be a common feature across the various symptomatic subgroups of psychosis, at least in the early, untreated stages of illness.

We wish to highlight that our observation does not necessarily negate a role for language network in thought disorder; instead it provides empirical support for a role of systemlevel dysconnectivity at resting-state as a determinant of the severity of FTD. Our results are not directly comparable to the results obtained from studies on patients with persistent thought disorder. Ketamine challenge which recapitulates acute thought disorder, has been reported to increase functional (BOLD) activity in the same medial sensory association cluster where we observed higher level of bDC among the more disorganized patient group (Deakin et al., 2008). A white fiber bundle recognized to participate in language production (Asami et al., 2013) connects the sensory association cortex to auditory association cortex (Wang et al., 2012). Our functional connectivity analysis also revealed a significant relationship between superior and middle temporal areas and the medial cluster located on the sensory association area in patients with FEP. It is possible that the primary 'downstream' interference caused by an emergent hub in the sensory association cortex is mediated via the language network.

To conclude, in the presence of reduced hubness of the superior temporal hub region, a relative increase in the hubness of sensory association regions is seen in highly disorganized patients with FEP. We postulate that an inefficient cortical information transfer resulting from the emergence of peripheral hubs underlies the pathogenesis of disorganization among patients with psychosis.

2.9 References

- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders
 1. American Psychiatric Association. Arlington 991 (American Psychiatric Publishing, Inc, 2013). doi: 10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596.893619
- Andreasen, N. C. Thought, Language, and Communication Disorders: II. Diagnostic Significance. Archives of General Psychiatry 36, 1325–1330 (1979).
- Andreasen, N. C. & Grove, W. M. Thought, language, and communication in schizophrenia: diagnosis and prognosis. Schizophrenia bulletin 12, 348–359 (1986).
- Andreasen, N. C., Arndt, S., Alliger, R., Miller, D. & Flaum, M. Symptoms of Schizophrenia: Methods, Meanings, and Mechanisms. Archives of General Psychiatry 52, 341–351 (1995).
- Andreasen, N. C. et al. Defining the phenotype of schizophrenia: Cognitive dysmetria and its neural mechanisms. Biological Psychiatry 46, 908–920 (1999).
- Andreasen, N. C. et al. Remission in schizophrenia: Proposed criteria and rationale for consensus. American Journal of Psychiatry 162, 441–449 (2005).
- Asami, T. et al. Abnormalities of middle longitudinal fascicle and disorganization in patients with schizophrenia. Schizophrenia Research 143, 253–259 (2013).

Ashburner, J. & Friston, K. J. Unified segmentation. NeuroImage 26, 839–851 (2005).

- Ashburner, J. A fast diffeomorphic image registration algorithm. NeuroImage 38, 95–113 (2007).
- Bellack, A. S., Sayers, M., Mueser, K. T. & Bennett, M. Evaluation of Social Problem Solving in Schizophrenia. Journal of Abnormal Psychology 103, 371–378 (1994).
- Bilder, R. M., Mukherjee, S., Rieder, R. O. & Pandurangi, A. K. Symptomatic and neuropsychological components of defect states. Schizophrenia Bulletin 11, 409– 419 (1985).
- Breier, A. & Berg, P. H. The psychosis of schizophrenia: Prevalence, response to atypical antipsychotics, and prediction of outcome. Biological Psychiatry 46, 361–364 (1999).
- Buckner, R. L. et al. Cortical Hubs Revealed by Intrinsic Functional Connectivity: Mapping, Assessment of Stability, and Relation to Alzheimer's Disease. Journal of Neuroscience 29, 1860–1873 (2009).
- Cavelti, M., Kircher, T., Nagels, A., Strik, W. & Homan, P. Is formal thought disorder in schizophrenia related to structural and functional aberrations in the language network? A systematic review of neuroimaging findings. Schizophrenia Research 199, 2–16 (2018).
- Cole, M. W., Anticevic, A., Repovs, G. & Barch, D. Variable global dysconnectivity and individual differences in schizophrenia. Biological Psychiatry 70, 43–50 (2011).
- Çokal, D. et al. The language profile of formal thought disorder. npj Schizophrenia 4, (2018).
- Deakin, J. F. W. et al. Glutamate and the neural basis of the subjective effects of ketamine: A pharmaco-magnetic resonance imaging study. Archives of General Psychiatry 65, 154–164 (2008).
- Dickinson, D., Ragland, J. D., Gold, J. M. & Gur, R. C. General and Specific Cognitive Deficits in Schizophrenia: Goliath Defeats David? Biological Psychiatry 64, 823– 827 (2008).

- Dosenbach, N. U. F. et al. Prediction of individual brain maturity using fMRI. Science 329, 1358–1361 (2010).
- Feigenson, K. A., Gara, M. A., Roché, M. W. & Silverstein, S. M. Is disorganization a feature of schizophrenia or a modifying influence: Evidence of covariation of perceptual and cognitive organization in a non-patient sample. Psychiatry Research 217, 1–8 (2014).
- Fischer, B. A. et al. Cortical structural abnormalities in deficit versus nondeficit schizophrenia. Schizophrenia Research 136, 51–54 (2012).
- Franzek, E. Influence of Carl Wernicke on Karl Leonhard's nosology. in Psychopathology 23, 277–281 (1990).
- Friston, K. J. & Frith, C. D. Schizophrenia: a disconnection syndrome? Clinical neuroscience (New York, N.Y.) 3, 89–97 (1995).
- Friston, K. J., Williams, S., Howard, R., Frackowiak, R. S. J. & Turner, R. Movementrelated effects in fMRI time-series. Magnetic Resonance in Medicine 35, 346–355 (1996).
- Galderisi, S. et al. The influence of illness-related variables, personal resources and context-related factors on real-life functioning of people with schizophrenia. World Psychiatry 13, 275–287 (2014).
- Guo, S., Palaniyappan, L., Liddle, P. F. & Feng, J. Dynamic cerebral reorganization in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia: A MRI-derived cortical thickness study. Psychological Medicine 46, 2201–2214 (2016).
- Guy, William (1976). "Clinical Global Impressions". ECDEU Assessment Manual for Psychopharmacology—Revised. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare; Public Health Service, Alcohol; Drug Abuse, and Mental Health Administration; National Institute of Mental Health; Psychopharmacology Research Branch; Division of Extramural Research Programs. pp. 218–222
- Harrow, M. & Marengo, J. T. Schizophrenic thought disorder at followup: its persistence and prognostic significance. Schizophrenia bulletin 12, 373–393 (1986).

- Harrow, M., Marengo, J. & McDonald, C. The early course of schizophrenic thought disorder. Schizophrenia bulletin 12, 208–224 (1986).
- Harvey, P. D., Earle-Boyer, E. A. & Wielgus, M. S. The consistency of thought disorder in mania and schizophrenia: An assessment of acute psychotics. Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease 172, 458–463 (1984).
- Iwabuchi, S. J. & Palaniyappan, L. Abnormalities in the effective connectivity of visuothalamic circuitry in schizophrenia. Psychological Medicine 47, 1300–1310 (2017).
- Kay, S. R., Fiszbein, A. & Opler, L. A. The positive and negative syndrome scale (PANSS) for schizophrenia. Schizophrenia Bulletin 13, 261–276 (1987).
- Khan, A. et al. The evolution of illness phases in schizophrenia: A non-parametric item response analysis of the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale. Schizophrenia Research: Cognition 1, 53–89 (2014).
- Kircher, T., Bröhl, H., Meier, F. & Engelen, J. Formal thought disorders: from phenomenology to neurobiology. The Lancet Psychiatry 5, 515–526 (2018).
- Kompus, K., Westerhausen, R. & Hugdahl, K. The "paradoxical" engagement of the primary auditory cortex in patients with auditory verbal hallucinations: A metaanalysis of functional neuroimaging studies. Neuropsychologia 49, 3361–3369 (2011).
- Kompus, K. et al. The role of the primary auditory cortex in the neural mechanism of auditory verbal hallucinations. Frontiers in Human Neuroscience 7, (2013).
- Kulhara, P., Kota S. & Joseph S. Positive and negative subtypes of schizophrenia. A study from India. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica 74, 353–359 (1986).
- Leckman, J. F., Sholomskas, D., Thompson, D., Belanger, A. & Weissman, M. M. Best Estimate of Lifetime Psychiatric Diagnosis: A Methodological Study. Archives of General Psychiatry 39, 879–883 (1982).

- Li, M. et al. Neural substrate of unrelenting negative symptoms in schizophrenia: a longitudinal resting-state fMRI study. European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience 268, 641–651 (2018).
- Liddle, P. F. The symptoms of chronic schizophrenia. A re-examination of the positivenegative dichotomy. British Journal of Psychiatry 151, 145–151 (1987).
- Marengo, J. T. & Harrow, M. Longitudinal courses of thought disorder in schizophrenia and schizoaffective disorder. Schizophrenia Bulletin 23, 273–285 (1997).
- Mesholam-Gately, R. I., Giuliano, A. J., Goff, K. P., Faraone, S. V. & Seidman, L. J. Neurocognition in First-Episode Schizophrenia: A Meta-Analytic Review. Neuropsychology 23, 315–336 (2009).
- Modinos, G. et al. Neuroanatomy of auditory verbal hallucinations in schizophrenia: A quantitative meta-analysis of voxel-based morphometry studies. Cortex 49, 1046–1055 (2013).
- Morosini, P. L., Magliano, L., Brambilla, L., Ugolini, S. & Pioli, R. Development, reliability and acceptability of a new version of the DSM- IV Social Occupational Functioning Assessment Scale (SOFAS) to assess routine social functioning. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica 101, 323–329 (2000).
- Nichols, T. & Hayasaka, S. Controlling the familywise error rate in functional neuroimaging: A comparative review. Statistical Methods in Medical Research 12, 419–446 (2003).
- Palaniyappan, L., Balain, V., Radua, J. & Liddle, P. F. Structural correlates of auditory hallucinations in schizophrenia: A meta-analysis. Schizophrenia Research 137, 169–173 (2012).
- Palaniyappan, L., Al-Radaideh, A., Mougin, O., Gowland, P. & Liddle, P. F. Combined white matter imaging suggests myelination defects in visual processing regions in schizophrenia. Neuropsychopharmacology 38, 1808–1815 (2013a).
- Palaniyappan, L., Simmonite, M., White, T. P., Liddle, E. B. & Liddle, P. F. Neural primacy of the salience processing system in schizophrenia. Neuron 79, 814–828 (2013b).

- Palaniyappan, L. & Liddle, P. F. Diagnostic discontinuity in psychosis: A combined study of cortical gyrification and functional connectivity. Schizophrenia Bulletin 40, 675–684 (2014).
- Palaniyappan, L. Progressive cortical reorganization: A framework for investigating structural changes in schizophrenia. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews 79, 1–13 (2017).
- Palaniyappan, L. et al. Effective connectivity within a triple network brain system discriminates schizophrenia spectrum disorders from psychotic bipolar disorder at the single-subject level. Schizophrenia Research (2018a). doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2018.01.006
- Palaniyappan, L. et al. Structural covariance and cortical reorganisation in schizophrenia: a MRI-based morphometric study. Psychological Medicine 1–9 (2018b). doi:10.1017/S0033291718001010
- Power, J. D., Barnes, K. A., Snyder, A. Z., Schlaggar, B. L. & Petersen, S. E. Spurious but systematic correlations in functional connectivity MRI networks arise from subject motion. NeuroImage 59, 2142–2154 (2012).
- Power, J. D. et al. Methods to detect, characterize, and remove motion artifact in resting state fMRI. NeuroImage 84, 320–341 (2014).
- Remington, G. et al. Guidelines for the Pharmacotherapy of Schizophrenia in Adults. Canadian Journal of Psychiatry 62, 604–616 (2017).
- Repovs, G., Csernansky, J. G. & Barch, D. M. Brain network connectivity in individuals with schizophrenia and their siblings. Biological Psychiatry 69, 967–973 (2011).
- Rocca, P. et al. Disorganization and real-world functioning in schizophrenia: Results from the multicenter study of the Italian Network for Research on Psychoses. Schizophrenia Research (2018). doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2018.06.003
- Roche, E., Creed, L., MacMahon, D., Brennan, D. & Clarke, M. The Epidemiology and Associated Phenomenology of Formal Thought Disorder: A Systematic Review. Schizophrenia Bulletin 1–12 (2015). doi:10.1093/schbul/sbu129

- Skudlarski, P. et al. Brain Connectivity Is Not Only Lower but Different in Schizophrenia: A Combined Anatomical and Functional Approach. Biological Psychiatry 68, 61– 69 (2010).
- Sumner, P. J., Bell, I. H. & Rossell, S. L. A systematic review of task-based functional neuroimaging studies investigating language, semantic and executive processes in thought disorder. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews 94, 59–75 (2018).
- Tzourio-Mazoyer, N. et al. Automated anatomical labeling of activations in SPM using a macroscopic anatomical parcellation of the MNI MRI single-subject brain. NeuroImage 15, 273–289 (2002).
- Ungvari, G. S. The Wernicke-Kleist-Leonhard school of psychiatry. Biological Psychiatry 34, 749–752 (1993).
- Wang, Y. et al. Rethinking the role of the middle longitudinal fascicle in language and auditory pathways. Cerebral Cortex 23, 2347–2356 (2013).
- WHO. Guidelines for and DDD assignment. WHO collaborating centre 1–284 (2013).
- Woo, C. W., Krishnan, A. & Wager, T. D. Cluster-extent based thresholding in fMRI analyses: Pitfalls and recommendations. NeuroImage 91, 412–419 (2014).
- Yan, C. G. & Zang, Y. F. DPARSF: a MATLAB toolbox for "pipeline" data analysis of resting-state fMRI. Frontiers in System Neuroscience (2010). doi:10.3389/fnsys.2010.00013
- Yan, C. G. et al. A comprehensive assessment of regional variation in the impact of head micromovements on functional connectomics. NeuroImage 76, 183–201 (2013a).
- Yan, C. G., Craddock, R. C., Zuo, X. N., Zang, Y. F. & Milham, M. P. Standardizing the intrinsic brain: Towards robust measurement of inter-individual variation in 1000 functional connectomes. NeuroImage 80, 246–262 (2013b).
- Yan, C. G., Wang, X. D., Zuo, X. N. & Zang, Y. F. DPABI: Data Processing & Analysis for (Resting-State) Brain Imaging. Neuroinformatics 14, 339–351 (2016).

Zuo, X. N. et al. Network centrality in the human functional connectome. Cerebral Cortex 22, 1862–1875 (2012).

2.10 Supplementary information

Appendix 1 Results from a two-sample t-test (FEPs vs. HC) of weighted degree centrality (wDC) maps

We found a similar reduction in weighted degree centrality in the STG/Insula cluster with same coordinates (x = 48, y = -9, z = 3) for the peak of the cluster and same peak statistics (T = 5, p = 0.001) as observed for the two sample t-test results of our binarized degree centrality maps (Table 7).

Cluster information					Peak voxe	l statistics
Brain regions	Cluster	Peak MNI c	oordina	ates	- 77 1	p-value
(AAL labels)	size	х	У	Z	I - value	(CFWE corrected)
FEP < HC						
STG/Insula cluster	201	48	-9	3	5.00	0.001
Temporal_Sup_R	88					
Insula_R	56					
Heschl_R	16					
FEP > HC						
Not significant						
cFWE = cluster FWE	MN E Neu Insti	MNI = Montreal Neurological Institute		^P = First ode chosis	HC = H controls	lealthy s

Table 7 Brain regions showing wDC alterations in the FEP group (n = 38) compared to the HC group (n = 31).

Appendix 2 Neurosynth meta-analyses

For the STG/Insula cluster

After obtaining functional connectivity maps of the STG/Insula cluster (showing reduced hubness in the patients vs. healthy controls) with the rest of the brain for healthy controls, we wanted to assess the comparability of our results with those observed in previous literature. We searched the Neurosynth online database (www.neurosynth.org) for meta-analytic maps of functional connectivity of the cluster belonging to that coordinate (x = 48, y = -9, z = 3). Our observations of the brain regions which were functionally connected to the STG/Insula cluster were similar to findings from the existing literature, confirming the comparability of our study to the literature (Figures 4 & 5).



Figure 4 Meta-analytic results (obtained from the Neurosynth database) of functional connectivity associations between the STG/Insula cluster and the rest of the brain.



Figure 5 Functional connectivity associations between the STG/Insula cluster and the rest of the brain.

For the medial superior parietal cluster

We performed a similar comparability check for the mSPL cluster showing increased hubness in the patient group with high disorganization vs. the patient group showing low

disorganization. Results from the meta-analytic maps of functional connectivity of the cluster belonging to that coordinate (x = -12, y = -30, z = 69) showed similarities to our findings of functional connectivity (Figures 6 & 7).



Figure 6 Meta-analytic results (obtained from the Neurosynth database) of functional connectivity associations between the medial superior parietal cluster and the rest of the brain.



Figure 7 Functional connectivity associations between the medial superior parietal cluster and the rest of the brain.

Appendix 3 Correlation between eigenvariate of STG/Insula and mSPL

We wanted to determine how the hubness properties of the STG/Insula cluster and medial superior parietal clusters were correlated and whether an increase or decrease in hubness of one cluster predicted the hubness properties of the other cluster. We extracted the eigenvariate of the two clusters and performed a bivariate correlation analysis between them. Results of the analysis show a significant positive correlation between the clusters, suggesting that an alteration in degree centrality of the STG/Insula is related to the alteration in hubness of the medial superior parietal cluster. In our results, we observe a decrease in hubness of the STG/Insula cluster but whether that predicts a decrease in hubness of the medial superior parietal cluster.

Patients (FEP group)	mSPL eigenvariate				
	Spearman's rho p-value				
STG/Insula eigenvariate	0.424	0.008			

Table 8 Correlation between the eigenvariates of STG/Insula and mSPL clusters in the

 FEP group

Appendix 4 Scatterplots between the P2 scores and eigenvariate of the STG/Insula and mSPL clusters



Figure 8 Relationship between eigenvariate of the medial superior parietal cluster and conceptual disorganization scores.

We observed a positive relationship between the P2 scores (X-axis) and the eigenvariate of the STG/Insula cluster (Y-axis) as shown in Figure 8. The scatterplot suggests that an increase in the severity of P2 (conceptual disorganization) is associated with an increase in hubness of the STG/Insula cluster. Therefore, in patients with high conceptual disorganization, we would expect the STG/Insula cluster to act like a functional hub of the healthy control group which could explain the lack of findings of any differences in degree centrality between the healthy controls and the High P2 group. However, some points on the scatterplot do not follow the relationship depicted by the line of best fit. We would expect to see a collinear relationship between low P2 scores and low STG/Insula hubness and High P2 scores but high STG/Insula hubness and vice-versa. Therefore, the relationship between the eigenvariate of the STG/Insula cluster and P2 scores do not present a conclusive relationship.



Figure 9 Relationship between eigenvariate of the medial superior parietal cluster and conceptual disorganization scores.

We observed a positive relationship between the P2 scores (X-axis) and the eigenvariate of the mSPL cluster (Y-axis) as shown in Figure 9. The scatterplot suggests that an increase in the severity of P2 (conceptual disorganization) scores is associated with an increase in hubness of the mSPL cluster. However, most FEPs show high hubness of the mSPL cluster at different values of the P2 scored item. From this relationship we would expect to confirm that conceptual disorganization is a persistent feature of psychosis and is associated with increase in the hubness of the mSPL brain region. There are, however, a few subjects who show reduced hubness properties of the mSPL cluster at a low severity of conceptual disorganization. This suggests that there is no reorganization of cortical networks occurring in these subjects as a result of the decrease in hubness of the STG/Insula region. There are 2 subjects which depict reduced hubness in the mSPL cluster with high conceptual disorganization, which suggests that in these subjects the mSPL cluster either
does not show any hubness alterations or reduces in hubness after the initial compensatory increase in hubness, therefore behaving like a functional hub in the healthy brain.

2.10.1 References:

- Bassett, D. S. et al. Hierarchical Organization of Human Cortical Networks in Health and Schizophrenia. Journal of Neuroscience 28, 9239–9248 (2008).
- Buckner, R. L. et al. Cortical Hubs Revealed by Intrinsic Functional Connectivity: Mapping, Assessment of Stability, and Relation to Alzheimer's Disease. Journal of Neuroscience 29, 1860–1873 (2009).
- Cavelti, M., Kircher, T., Nagels, A., Strik, W. & Homan, P. Is formal thought disorder in schizophrenia related to structural and functional aberrations in the language network? A systematic review of neuroimaging findings. Schizophrenia Research 199, 2–16 (2018).
- Kircher, T. et al. A rating scale for the assessment of objective and subjective formal thought and language disorder (TALD). Schizophrenia Research 160, 216–221 (2014).
- Kircher, T., Bröhl, H., Meier, F. & Engelen, J. Formal thought disorders: from phenomenology to neurobiology. The Lancet Psychiatry 5, 515–526 (2018).
- Palaniyappan, L. & Liddle, P. F. Diagnostic discontinuity in psychosis: A combined study of cortical gyrification and functional connectivity. Schizophrenia Bulletin 40, 675–684 (2014).
- Strik, W. et al. The Bern psychopathology scale for the assessment of system-specific psychotic symptoms. Neuropsychobiology 61, 197–209 (2010).
- Sumner, P. J., Bell, I. H. & Rossell, S. L. A systematic review of task-based functional neuroimaging studies investigating language, semantic and executive processes in thought disorder. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews 94, 59–75 (2018).
- Tewarie, P. et al. Functional brain network analysis using minimum spanning trees in Multiple Sclerosis: An MEG source-space study. NeuroImage 88, 308–318 (2014).

- van den Heuvel, M. P. et al. Proportional thresholding in resting-state fMRI functional connectivity networks and consequences for patient-control connectome studies: Issues and recommendations. NeuroImage 152, 437–449 (2017).
- Váša, F. et al. Adolescent tuning of association cortex in human structural brain networks. Cerebral Cortex 28, 281–294 (2018).

2.11 Funding

This study was funded by CIHR Foundation Grant (375104/2017) to LP; AMOSO Opportunities fund to LP; Grad student salary support of AD by Bucke Family Fund to LP and support from the Chrysalis Foundation to LP. Data acquisition was supported by the Canada First Excellence Research Fund to BrainSCAN, Western University (Imaging Core).

2.12 Conflict of interest

LP receives book royalties from Oxford University Press and income from the SPMM MRCPsych course. In the last 5 years, his or his spousal pension funds held shares of Shire Inc., and GlaxoSmithKline. LP has received investigator initiated educational grants from Otsuka Canada and Janssen Canada in 2017 and a speaker fee from Otsuka Canada in 2017 and Canadian Psychiatric Association in 2018. LP and KD received support from Boehringer Ingelheim to attend an investigator meeting in 2017. All other authors report no potential conflicts of interest.

2.13 Acknowledgements

We thank Dr. Joe Gati, Mr. Trevor Szekeres, Dr. Tushar Das and Dr. Ali Khan for their assistance in data acquisition and archiving. We thank Dr. William Pavlovsky for consultations on clinical radiological queries. We thank Drs. Raj Harricharan, Julie Richard, Priya Subramaniam and Hooman Ganjavi and all staff members of the PEPP London team for their assistance in patient recruitment and supporting clinical care. We gratefully acknowledge the participants and their family members for their contributions.

Chapter 3: General discussion

3 Conclusions

The aim of the current study was to investigate the theory of 'dysconnection' (Friston & Frith, 1995) in an acutely psychotic patient sample. A reduction in hubness of the STG/Insula region in relation to the symptoms of conceptual disorganization (and the association of this region to other regions involved in sensory and executive functioning) helps explain the theory of 'dysconnection' in distributed brain networks in first episode psychosis. These results are consistent with previous work in a medicated sample of patients with schizophrenia (Palaniyappan & Liddle, 2014). In that previous study, increased hubness was also observed in the hippocampus, thalamus, inferior temporal and occipital regions in patients with schizophrenia compared to healthy controls. In the current acutely psychotic, early stage sample, the lack of any increased hubness in FEP indicates that the emergence of such peripheral hubs in visual cortex and medial/inferior temporal regions may be a feature of chronicity or treatment effect rather than being a feature of psychosis per se.

Furthermore, increased hubness of the medial superior parietal (mSPL) cluster —in the group with a high severity of conceptual disorganization— provides evidence of an abnormal reorganization occurring in cortical networks. Conventionally, this brain region is not regarded as a functional hub. This speaks to an adaptive mechanism to counterbalance the reduced hubness observed in the overall patient group. Interestingly, this cluster was functionally connected to the superior and middle temporal regions as well as regions comprising the sensorimotor network (Dosenbach et al., 2010). We, therefore, conclude that a generalized dysconnectivity of the STG/Insula cluster might explain the underlying pathophysiology of psychosis. Specifically, the observation of increased connections in the peripheral sensory brain regions (mSPL) could explain the distinct pathophysiological processes that are likely to underlie the multifaceted nature of the symptoms of psychosis. The compensatory hubness increase in the peripheral sensory brain region may suggest the emergence of alternate routes for the transmission of information, via functional brain networks, as an activity to preserve brain function (Palaniyappan, 2017). This re-routing could result in an aberrant shunting of associative

processes (Wernicke's notion of sejunction (Franzek, 1990)) —explaining the core symptoms observed in psychosis.

Graph theory has, therefore, been very useful in studying brain network alterations in earlystage as well as established psychosis at the level of a microscopic voxel. Previously, graph theory has been successful in demonstrating abnormalities in a sample comprising of patients with chronic schizophrenia (Zalesky et al., 2011; Palaniyappan & Liddle, 2014; Yu et al., 2015; Cheng et al., 2015; Cao et al., 2016; Kambeitz et al., 2016; Palaniyappan et al., 2018). However, careful consideration is necessary when using graph metrics as diagnostic measures or as tools to predict the future functional outcomes of psychosis. This is because a single graph metric would both be insufficient in the characterization of aberrations in functional brain networks and might not consider the dynamically changing topological properties of brain networks when explaining these network alterations (De Vico Fallani et al., 2014). This suggests the need for using other mathematical models (e.g., dynamic causal modelling (Friston, 2003) and Granger causality analysis (Granger, 1969)) alongside graph theory which would be useful to predict brain activity at a future time point based on patterns of brain activity at the present and previous time points. This approach would also be helpful to map the directionality of information processing, not only in terms of top-down and bottom-up processing streams but also in terms of the sequential recruitment of brain areas in either performing a task or maintaining internal homeostasis.

One limitation of this study is the difficulty in delineating the specificity of these compensatory changes occurring as a result of the causally influential decrease in connectivity. To delineate the specificity of these compensatory changes, future works should include a longitudinal characterization of brain networks at follow-up time points (e.g. at 6 and 12 months). This would allow us to identify the effects of the severity and duration of the symptoms on the patterns of altered connectivity across the whole brain. Furthermore, a cross-sectional analysis of altered hubness in patients with established psychosis compared to healthy controls would be useful to confirm that our findings are comparable to the observations in the existing literature. It is important to note here that for the HCs in our sample the FC between the whole brain and both the STG/Insula and

mSPL clusters is similar to the evidence obtained from the meta-analytic literature on the FC of these two regions, suggesting the relevance of our findings to further the goal of establishing the neural basis of established psychosis. In addition, these results provide a limited understanding of the extent of these hubness alterations which is a second limitation of this study. To identify the extent of DC alterations, it would be beneficial to employ a region-of-interest (ROI) approach to characterize and compare functional networks in both patients and controls. A major advantage of using this approach would be a reduction in the size of adjacency matrices (moving from a voxel-wise approach to an ROI-based approach) used to characterize graph metrics (e.g. degree centrality (DC)). This would reduce the computational complexity of a multidimensional dataset. Another advantage of this approach would be estimating DC alterations in a single subject (as opposed to the entire group) by comparing the DC maps of an individual patient and the entire HC sample. The measure of 'Hub Disruption Index' (proposed by Achard et al., 2012), which determines the functional reorganization occurring in resting-state brain networks, could be helpful for such an estimation. However, the estimation of the extent of FC alterations and cortical reorganizations for individual patients is highly sensitive and variable in nature due to several reasons (e.g., the inter-subject variability of the psychopathological domains and the number of voxels within a particular ROI). Addressing these two limitations in our current study could help characterize functional brain networks in unmedicated first-episode psychosis as well as provide insight into the progressive changes which occur as a characteristic feature of established psychosis.

With regards to the related construct of FTD in psychosis, our study lacked instruments such as the Thought and Language Index (TLI) which comprehensively quantify the various aspects of FTD (Kircher et al., 2018; Strik et al., 2010). As a result, the functional correlates of hemodynamic (BOLD) activation in relation to the symptoms of FTD were not investigated in this study. However, our non-investigation of the neural correlates of FTD (and observations of aberrant FC in relation to CD) does not necessarily negate the importance of studying the language network in thought disorder; instead, it provides empirical support for the need to investigate a system-level dysconnectivity occurring at resting-state as a determinant of the severity of FTD. It would, therefore, be helpful to obtain scores for individual items on the TLI assessment tool for all individuals and

investigate the functional connectivity patterns which explain the multifaceted nature of FTD in psychosis. Although the individual items of formal thought disorder (Thought, Language and Communication scales) and conceptual disorganization (PANSS) have both been used to measure disorders in thought processes associated with psychosis, no significant correlations were observed between these items in terms of their respective scores for individual subjects (Docherty, 2012). Testing the functional dependence of both these measures (by correlating individual functional connectivity correlates of FTD and CD) would thus be interesting to assess the reliability of the construct of FTD as a measure of disorganization. Since the current study was focused on studying patients with first episode psychosis, our observations are not directly comparable to the results obtained from previous studies on patients with persistent thought disorder.

One of the strengths of our study is the use of an ultra-high field (UHF) magnet of field strength 7T to scan the study participants. Using an ultra-high field (UHF) over traditional field strengths (1.5 T / 3 T) can have many advantages such as a better spatial resolution of the MR images. UHF can help resolve the difficulties in the assessment of structural and functional complexities of the human brain at various spatial resolutions. With an increase in field strength, it is possible to increase the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) as well as the contrast-to-noise ratio (CNR) of the MR signal —therefore increasing the resolution of the scanned image (Duyn, 2012). A multiband acceleration factor (MB = 3) was also included in the functional (rs-fMRI) acquisition protocol for our study. This is an advantage over other standardized protocols because this technique effectively shortens acquisition time (without decreasing either the echo time (TE) or SNR) by the simultaneous acquisition of multiple slices. In terms of the implications of using a multiband acceleration factor for rs-fMRI data, analyses have revealed significantly increased levels of sensitivity in the detection of RSNs (Preibisch et al., 2015).

Another strength of our study is the inclusion of unmedicated patients in their first episode of psychosis. This implies that our findings (of aberrant functional connectivity of distributed brain regions) point towards the functional basis of psychosis and that they are specific to the symptom of conceptual disorganization observed in psychosis, not influenced by other positive/ negative symptoms or degree of reduced functioning among patients.

3.1 References:

- Achard, S. et al. Hubs of brain functional networks are radically reorganized in comatose patients. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109, 20608–20613 (2012).
- Cao, H. et al. Altered Functional Subnetwork During Emotional Face Processing. JAMA Psychiatry 73, 598 (2016).
- Cheng, H. et al. Nodal centrality of functional network in the differentiation of schizophrenia. Schizophrenia Research 168, 345–352 (2015).
- De Vico Fallani, F., Richiardi, J., Chavez, M. & Achard, S. Graph analysis of functional brain networks: Practical issues in translational neuroscience. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 369, (2014).
- Docherty, N. M. On identifying the processes underlying schizophrenic speech disorder. Schizophrenia Bulletin 38, 1327–1335 (2012).
- Dosenbach, N. U. F. et al. Prediction of individual brain maturity using fMRI. Science 329, 1358–1361 (2010).
- Duyn, J. H. The future of ultra-high field MRI and fMRI for study of the human brain. NeuroImage 62, 1241–1248 (2012).
- Franzek, E. Influence of Carl Wernicke on Karl Leonhard's nosology. in Psychopathology 23, 277–281 (1990).
- Friston, K. J. & Frith, C. D. Schizophrenia: a disconnection syndrome? Clinical neuroscience (New York, N.Y.) 3, 89–97 (1995).
- Friston, K. in Human Brain Function: Second Edition 1063–1090 (Elsevier Inc., 2003). doi:10.1016/B978-012264841-0/50054-8

- Granger, C. W. J. Investigating Causal Relations by Econometric Models and Crossspectral Methods. Econometrica 37, 424 (1969).
- Kambeitz, J. et al. Aberrant Functional Whole-Brain Network Architecture in Patients with Schizophrenia: A Meta-analysis. Schizophrenia Bulletin 42, S13–S21 (2016).
- Kircher, T., Bröhl, H., Meier, F. & Engelen, J. Formal thought disorders: from phenomenology to neurobiology. The Lancet Psychiatry 5, 515–526 (2018).
- Palaniyappan, L. & Liddle, P. F. Diagnostic discontinuity in psychosis: A combined study of cortical gyrification and functional connectivity. Schizophrenia Bulletin 40, 675–684 (2014).
- Palaniyappan, L. Progressive cortical reorganization: A framework for investigating structural changes in schizophrenia. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews 79, 1–13 (2017).
- Palaniyappan, L. et al. Structural covariance and cortical reorganisation in schizophrenia: a MRI-based morphometric study. Psychological Medicine 1–9 (2018).
- Preibisch, C., Castrillón G., J. G., Bührer, M. & Riedl, V. Evaluation of multiband EPI acquisitions for resting state fMRI. PLoS ONE 10, (2015).
- Schultz, P. W., Nolan, J. M., Cialdini, R. B., Goldstein, N. J. & Griskevicius, V. The Constructive, Destructive, and Reconstructive Power of Social Norms: Reprise. Perspectives on Psychological Science 13, 249–254 (2018).
- Strik, W. et al. The Bern psychopathology scale for the assessment of system-specific psychotic symptoms. Neuropsychobiology 61, 197–209 (2010).
- Yu, Q. et al. Assessing dynamic brain graphs of time-varying connectivity in fMRI data: Application to healthy controls and patients with schizophrenia. NeuroImage 107, 345–355 (2015).
- Zalesky, A. et al. Disrupted axonal fiber connectivity in schizophrenia. Biological Psychiatry 69, 80–89 (2011).

Curriculum Vitae

Name:	Avyarthana Dey
Post-secondary Education and Degrees:	Asansol Engineering College Maulana Abul Kalam Azad University of Technology West Bengal, India 2012-2016 B.Tech.(EE)
	The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada 2017-2018 M.Sc. (Neuroscience)
Honours and Awards:	Western Graduate Research Scholarship 2017-2018

Publications:

<u>Dey A</u>, Das TK, Dempster K., McKinley M., Jeon P., Khan A., Gati J., Palaniyappan L (2018). Conceptual disorganization and redistribution of resting state cortical hubs in untreated first episode psychosis: A 7T study (in preparation).

Das TK, <u>Dey A</u>, Sabesan P, et al. Putative Astroglial Dysfunction in Schizophrenia: A Meta-Analysis of 1H-MRS Studies of Medial Prefrontal Myo-Inositol. Front Psychiatry. 2018; 9:438. Published 2018 Sep 21. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00438

Das TK, Javadzadeh A, <u>Dey A</u>, Sabesan P, Théberge J, Radua J, & Palaniyappan L (2018). Antioxidant defense in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: A meta-analysis of MRS studies of anterior cingulate glutathione. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry. Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2018.08.006